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STATEMENT BY FRANK HYNES,

Cross §treet, Athenry, Co. Galway,

T have been asked to.write an account of my
personal experience in the Volunteers or I,R.A.
during the time I was with them. I understand that
the purpose is %0 supply data for future historians.
If I pick out items and give them individually I'm
sure I will mess it up, 80 I will tell the story in
my own way. I will remembér the items of interest
better that way. I think if:._ was: very ea:t'ly in 1514
that we started the Volunteers in Athenry. A meeting
of " the people of the town was called, and from that
meeting a comittee was electéeds The rollowing are
the names of the Committee members - John Broderick
(8eén Broderick, afterwards T.D.), Pat Hynes,
Tom Qlery, Dick Murphy, Jim Barrett, §tephen Jorden,
Lerry Lardner, F,Hynes. '

Dick Murphy had a hall and at the back there was
a splendid yard, like a barrack square, for drilling,
The men on the reserve in the British Army were not yet
called up and they gladly took on the job of driliing us;
some of them lined up with us, and one perticular man
took charge. His name was Johnny Nauction, but as =
drill sergeant he was useless; it took him about three
weeks t0 temch us how t0 gtand to attention. He had &
big store of the drill sergeant's Jargon - “remember
that you're not tied to your mother's spron strings, etc.,
etc;". “One night he was_ﬁrill:lng us, and he wenit over
t0 an éx—army man who was. in the ranks and said to him,
"Itm Btﬁvprised at a good-locking fellow like you to be
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looking down, there are no sixpenny bits on the ground".
The man couldn't stand it any longer; he said, "if you
don*t ghut up I'1l give you a puck in the mouth®, -
There was another man named Martin Holland or
Hollian who came down to look on. He was a reserve man
too0. Ope night he was listening t0 Johnny's jibing
comments and he said to him, "ah! d@rill them Johnny or
leave them alone! Next night we appointed Martin
drill master, and before a week he had taught us all the
foot drill and had us out doing field work. After
gbout three months the reserves were called up and our
drill master had to go. The only one we had to fall
back on was an ex peeler who was on the army reserve
but was rejected for active service on account of bad
health. He, t00, was useless; we could hé.rdl:,r
understand his words of command. When he wanted to
halt us (for instance) the sound he ‘emitted was
something like this "heeould". We soon digpensed with
his services. We next got an old ex army man who was
too old. for active service. - He was an Englishman.
As soon as he started drilling us he also statted
recruiting for the English Army, s0 he went weat.

We had been organising campanles in the maanti;na
in the outlying villages. In fact we were the
organising centre for most of the county. We had an
election of officers and Larry Lardner was elected
Battalioh Commandent. I was elected Company Captain.
I don't think t}-mt there was:such a thing as a brigade
in county Galwsy up t0 1916. There was what they
called a county board, and although I was a company
officer I was never called to any of their meetings.



!‘g.

iy

\ et

e

When John Redmond got control of the Volunteers
we had ‘& great influx of recruits, but we didn't trust
them - we knew they were not genuine. We collected
abouwt £100 for arms and some of the members of the
council were negotiating with D.J. Nugent for goms of'
Redmond's guns. .In the meantime T happened o meet a
man from Dublin. I think his name was Kennedy.

He seemed to0 be well in with the right crowd in Dublin,

"I apoke to him gbout owr campany and told him that

we intended purchasing some rifles. He sald thaf

The 0'Rahilly would be the best man to get in touch with.
He promised %o mai:a_ enguiries for me, Some time after
he wrote to me and told me that some rifles had just
been landed - they were single shot Martini Enfield -
but for God sake, he pald, "don't have anything to do
with Redmond's rifles, they are mere toys, and there is

no emmunition for them, they are a camplete fraud.

There was a meeting a few nights after, and the
secretary read a letter from Nugent stating the price
etc, of Redmond's rifiles. I waited until the letter
was read. I knew that no one in the place knew
anything sbout the dud rifles and they would decidse
immsdiately on sending on the money for them.

I produced my friend's letter and said, “hafé&ra you
decide on anything, read that", The letter was read,
and 1t was decided to get in touch with The O'Rehilly.
we got twenty-six rifles.

The police, instead of preveniting us from
carrying rifles, used to stand at the barrack door as
we marched paﬁt, and even shouted words of encouragement
to us. We knew what the idea was - tl_:te English
govermment thought that we would be available when
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they wanted us.

I forgot to mention that when the split came we
didn't even discuss it at our meeting. Two old members
of the council resigned; they were old Parnell:!.tisﬂ-,
and had great falth in Redmond. Of course, most of the
milk and water Volunteers who joined when Rﬂdmand tock

over, left us too.

The next item of interest.was the celebration of the
Manchester Martyrs' anniversary. ~ We called a meeting of
the company officers to dlgcuss the matter. The day
happened to fall on Sunday and there was a guestion of
discharging firearms: in the public streets on the
ssbbath. We decided on firing the three volleys and
meke preparsations f;::r;' the peelers if they tried to stop
us. We had the company on parade in the drill yard on
that Sunday night. It was pitch dark and we had no
lights in the yard. One of the officers went round
amongst the rifle men and handed each one three rounds
of smmunition. They didn't have an ides as to what we
were going to do; the whole thing was enshrouded in
nyatery, heﬁca the darkness.

Before we started on owr funeral march round the
town, I addressed the men and thenked them for the
regpect they had ghown me as their captain, also their
strict obedlence to my uMa. ¥Po-night", I sald,
"yvour courage and discipline may be put to the test, so
I want you, no matter wﬁat heppens, not to do anything
until you get mdia?a from me". This made them sit up

(as it were). I gave the orders "reverse arms, slow
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march®, and we marched round the town past the barrack to
the place appointed. We fired our three volleys and
needless to say it was like a terrific explosion in the

sllent streets. Wo walted pome time to gee if the

peelers would come but there was no sign of them. Then
we went round the town again at quick march and everyone
felt very patisfied.

I think it was in January, 1515, we got word from
Dublin that an officer was being sent down to organise
and train the Volunteers ir County Galway. He was %0 be
with us for one week only. We all were very excited
over the matter. TWhen the night arrived, Larry told me
to call the company ‘on paradé while he went to0 the train
to meet the officer. W¥hen he arrived I was introduced
to a little fellow with glasses. My impression of him
was that he may be a clever lad - he was a‘ﬂoﬁt 22 years -~
but couldn't be much good at fighting. His name by the
way was Liam Mellows. He came in when the men were
lined up, aix footers most of them. I.iam addressed them
"Now men X was sent down {0 get ynu.-tc do a bit of heard
werk, s0 I want you to be prepared for a week of very
hard work". I could see the falintest trace of a
supercilidus smile on some of the men. When he was
finished talking Iarry and himself went off to arrange
about digs. Then the smiles broke out to laughing.

~ "{ho is the ladeen", agked one fellow, "who talks to us. -

about hard work". ~ They all enjoyed the joke, but
before the first night under his command was over they
laughed no more, they loved and respected him after that.

The fdlowing night Liam brought us out for a route

-
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marech. When we were about a mile out the road and BOMe
of them were thinking it was time to furn back, Liam
put us on the double. Liam and Larry and I were in

front. Earry was rather stout and soft. TWe weren't

long at the double when he started to blow. ' I was a

little better, but Liam was stepping along as ¢ool as a
cucumber. We trotted along for about three-quarters of
& mile when Llam told Larry who was next to him to give
the order for guick march. Iarry couldn't give the
order if it were to save Ireland; all he could do was
give me a push in the ribs. I managed to blurt out

the order, and when we looked back we had about half our
company missing. They were lying along the route.

By the time the week was up we had a feir good idea of what

hard work meant. When his week was up he wrote to
headquarters for ancother week's stay with us, but.
ingtead of staying only a week he remained until he was
deportleﬂ.. |

He stayed in Sedn Broderick's house, but when he
started organising throughout the county he was usually
late caning home. In facf, any time from 12 ﬁ.t night_
until 8 a.m. The résult was that he spent most of his
nighta in my house - we had a spare room, and.we called
it Liam's room,

Qne day he marched us to a village called
Clarenbridge about a:l:g._' miles from Athenry. e met a
few more local con@aﬁea there and had some fleld
manceuvres. In the evening when we thought it was time
0 go hame, Liam brought us together. "low", he pald,
"I went to divide the party in two, one half will
defend the village and the other will atbtack".
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Larry and Liam were defending. I was in charge of the
attacking party. Liam collected half barrels, shop
shutters, horse and donkey carts, anysthing he could lay
hands on, and didn't ask leave of anybody. He made
barricades across the streets. After about an hour's
sham fighting, we had & stand up fight in the centre of
the village . Then we set out for home, dead ’beat, and

six weary mileg in front of us. The men were so tired

" after the day that it was almost impossible to meke them

keep step. ithen we were out s couple of miles on the
road we heard from the rear some marching song. TUp to
this every man had his head down and dragging his legs.
4s soon as they heard Liam's voice all heads went up and
every man picked up the stép and forgot he was weary
before. We had many such field days after. Liam had a
men named PAdralc Fahy from gort with him very often in
his rounds of organising. Pédraic was teaching Irish
classes under the Gaelic League, and very often

I aceompanied them.

There 1s one incident worth mentioning. Liem asked
me one Jaturday if I could go to Derrybriamnto organise a
compeny of Volunteers. Derrybrian.is a villape about
gix miles scross the hills from Gort.. I was to cyele to
Pidraic's place about three 'milas: Outai&ﬁ gort -
Ballycaehillan. I was to take the -1&.‘.&1 ca&rxpmy acrosa
the hills.on Swnday after Mass. Bellyoghillan is about
18 miles from Athenry. I started out -on Saturday

evening and on Sunday I got the cmmﬁn;r. together and

gtarted to march scross the hills. §ome of -those hills
were s0 steep that we had almost to creep on our hands and
knees; keeping in any abrt of formation was impossible,

it was every man for himself, The day was very werm;
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one old man who always insisted on being with the company -
was lagging behind. We wq_ite.ﬂ for him. He struggled
up the hill with his frieze coat on his arm. Ope of the
boye said to him, "Patsy, you're as cool as a cucumber,
and we're gll swaaﬁiﬁg". 4, t'anam 6'n diabhail", said
Patay, "wasn't I in a lather of sweat until I swapped
shirts with Tadg Lally below on the side of the mountain'.
Wé .ar.nivad in Derrybrian dead baat; ‘bﬁﬁ' we got the boys
of the villege together and explained everything to them,
paeraded ouwr ovm company. I forgot to mention that Liam
was to0 go to Portumna and meet me at Derrybrian. I had
done all I could and we were just preparing to depart
when ]‘.-'.igm'turnaﬂ up with Joe Martin on a motor bike and
gide car. When leaving home I promised my wife that

I would be home on Sunday night at any cost. ®hen T saw
it was so late leaving Derrybrian I knew that I could not
possibly cycle home that night. I told Liam to tell

my wife when he reached Athenry. We scrambled back to

. Ballycahalan but I was edsy in my mind thinking that my

wife would not be uneaey about me, that Liam would explain
metters, I stayed with PAdraic that night.

On Monday P&draic told me that he would be closing an
Irish class in Killeeneen that night and that if I waited
he would come home with me. I went to the class that
night and PAdralc wouldn't be satisfied until Imade a
speech. Then we were Jjust preparing the room fér a bit
of a dance when we heard a car outside. The next thing
we saw was the door being thrown open and Larry standing
there all excitement. "Is H'a.nk Hynes here?", he said,
When he saw me he ran ovér to me as if I were a long-lost

brother. "Thank God, you're safe', he said. I said,
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"ﬁhat'a the matterft". "Your wife", he said, "is in a
state of ealla@sa'fﬁom anxiety. We have every availsble
car in fown out looking for you"., °~ I sald, "how can that

be. Didn't Liem bring her my message?". fLiam didn't

turn up either", he said, TWhen I arpived home they were

naving a mock wake; the house was full of sympathisers
and my wife threw her arms round me and cried like a child.
Liam met with an aceldent going back to Portuma, as a
result he was in bed for three days and, therefore, could

not dblivef my message.

Ligm played meny tricks on the peelers. ne man
was told off to station himself outside Broderick's house,

and another outside mine at each end of the town.

One night Liam ceme down to my house with his bike,
This was: reported to the Barrack and two peelers were told
off to wateh him and follow him whereﬁer he went, They
took up posts: outside my house gnd waited, Liam brought
in his bike, I brought him out through the garden,
across the fields and on to the road to Killeeneen where
he intended going; the poor peelers kept watch outside
my door until 2 g.m, but lost thelr guarry.

I think it was in March or early in April that
Liam was srrested and forcibly deported to England.
I wont go into the details of his rescue, sufficient to

say he was back in time for the rising.

Bamon Corbett brought back word from Dublin during
Holy Week that the rising was to take place at 7 p.m. on
Easter Sunday. It was known only to a few of us: and we
made our arrangements in secret. We were to produce a
play on Easter JSundsy night and went so far as to get out
the poasteérs, knowing full well that 1t would never be

produced. We had all errangements made as 0 how we
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would proceed. We had the plan of the Barrack, and it
would be just child's play to march up and hold up the
peelers as they never prevented us from marching with

our rifles.

I thiﬁkiit was on Wednesday, Larry, our Gnﬁmandant,
got word that if the peelers attempted t0 collect our
rifles we were ﬁﬂ defend theim. Then we gat conflicting
rumours that the rising was off and so forth. larry
went up t0 Dublin to find out for himsgelf., He met
Bulmer Hobson and Eoin McNeill who told him that the
only orders he was 10 recognise were the orders he got
about def&nding-tha-rifisa,.buf when he came hgak he
was told that the rising waé definitely on for Sunday
evening, The head officers asked me on Haster
Saturday wpuld.I take charge, I had been ignored up to
this as regards meetings of the éounedl, I sald, "why
do you come to'me at the eleventh hour., What aboul
Larry?. They said ﬁh&t Earry was funking 1t. I aaid;
“camé'ﬁp with me and we will soon find out". When we
saw Larry he_waa in a bad wéyﬁ "He said, "I'm neerly
out of my mind between all the puinours I was #0ld in
Dublin - one story end then another®, I listened to him
for a while and then I said, “answei-nna'queat;an'- are
you going to come ouf, or aré'yuﬁ note", "Ch./%", he said,
"I'1ll go out -alright". I seld, "that's all I"want to
Know". B

Our parish priest, Canon dantun, was a very plous
men, who didn't went any display or excitement. .
I wanted to get all the men 1n.mg company 0 be at Holy
Communion on Easter Sunday mnrning. and without giving
thsm any Information sbout ﬁh& riging, I told them that
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we were to have a church parade with full:kit and that
every man was expected to be at Holy Communion.
Full kit meant bandolier and haversack. Larry,waé the
only one who had a uﬁifonm. Then the job was to get
the Canon to agree to let them into the church in full
kit, I told him that I used this. in order.to entice
the men to go to their Baster duties. He agreed.

On Easter Sunday morning at 7.45 I had the ‘
company on parade, just starting to march to the church,
when McNelll's despatch arri?éd ~ "Jo action to be

taken today. VYolunteers completely deceived".

We called a meeting during ﬁhe day and got out
degpatches t0 be sent to all the companies that we had
notified about the rising, informing thamithat,tpe
rising was off. I went to work nexﬁ_day,.thinking

that everything was over, at least for some time.

On Monday when I came to0 my dinner I got a
message t0 call down to the hall. When I went down
Larry was there and his face was a placard in which
trouble oould be read easily, Hé_handad me a despatch
from Pearse - "@oing out tpday at noon; l1ssue your
orders". There was a kettle of fish! What were we
going to do? We notified all the companies we could
get in touch with. We were t0ld that Liam was back
and was in Kllleeneen. We got in touch with him and ,
asked him what we would do. He told us t0 wait for him,
not to take any action until he caeme. PBefore evening
everyone knew of the rising in Dublin, and the peelers
started making preparations. They called in all the
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peelers from the autlying stations and occupled all the
houses in the vicinity of the barrack and made- an attack

" on the barrack impossible. The only thing we could do

was prepare to defend ourselves in case of an attack.
About one dozen armed men remained in my house during
Mond:a ¥ night. On Tuesday we were making all the

preparations we could for any emergency; éams of the

local companies cams in to join us.

On Tuesday night we decided.to¢ retreat towards
Cranmore and meet Mellows end his contingent and leave 1t
to him to decide what was best to do. e met him about &
mile outside the town. He had sbout 300 men and we had
about the game. They had s whole string of .carts which
they had captured and four peelers . One was wounded.

the R.I.C. Barracks in/ )
They attacked/the village of Qlarenbridge and Oranmore

without success.

At the point where we met there i1s an agfieultural
station. Liam decided to take possession of that for the
time being. - For some time before that there was
agrarian trouble over this station. They had about 600
a&res of the best land in the county and the people wanted
same of it divided so that it became necessary to build
huts for the peelers on the land. - One of these huts was
wilthin about 50 yards of the station and nextimnrﬁing
our outposts were surprised to see seven peelers armed with
rifles coming up the road. I was sent out with six men
to meet them. We opened fire on them; they didn't run
away; they fought a retreating fight, returning our fire
until they got to the town. | '

Anyone reading this aceount would be inelined to

-
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think that we were acting in a rather cowerdly manner -

why did we not attack the barrack in Athenry?. why did

-we keep retreating, etec., etc. The Yolunteers who were

out -in Galway numbered between five and six hundred; we
had about fifty full service rifles and about thirty
rounds for each rifle, The rest were old shot guns,

« 22 rifles, about ons dozen plkes and a zood many were

not armed at all, s0 that if we wanted our ammunition on
attacking the barrack we had nothing to fight with after
that{ and as for bombs, we made some hopeless attempts
at making bombs. If one of them exploded in g man's hand
it would not injure him. After the scrap with the
peelers we called a meeting and decided to retreat to a
place called Hoyode, This was a castle which was owned
by ane of the big landlords celled Perse. It was about
five miles from us. The argument in favour of Moyode was
that we could de®nd it at least wntil our ammunition would
be spent. The castle was In charge of a caretsker so

there was no trouble in capturing it.

Several rumours reached us of soldiers marhming on
us, We will give the bearers of those false rUumours
the charity of our silence, but one in particular who was;.
responsible for most of them was a very prominent
rapublican gnd a member of the I.R.B. up to Easter Week.
This man 4id his best to get us to give up and go home
and have sense. He brought one particular rumour that
five or six hundred soldiers were merching on us from
Ballinasloe. e celled a meeting and I'm afraid that
one or two of our officers were anxious to take him
seriously and take his advice t0 go home, Liam got
disgusted and said he would not disband the men.

He handed over command t0 Larry. b u t
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Larry would not disband themn, Liam after about an hour
took over again and called for volunteers t& go out the
roads to see if therg were any soldiers. $hﬂre wag no
ghortage of volunteers and every motor we had was sent
out. We remained on the alert{ until morning and the

scouts came back with nothing to report. .

Another report came of the éame nature. At our
meeting this time I proposed that the officers all stick
together whatever comes, but I thought it only fair tﬂat
the men would be informed of the situation and given
the option of going or staying. This was agreed to and
the men were informed. About 200 of them decided to g o,
80 we took what arms they had and anything elege that

might be of use to us, such as overcoats, and let them go.

On Friday evening we got word from one of our
scouts who were watéhing the railway, that S00 soldiers
were in Attymon and were msrching on Loyode. There was
no question of trying to defend the castle under the '
circumstances, so the guestion was, would we disband or
retreat in order; s0 we declided on the Iatter. I would
mention here that our chaplain was Father Feeney of '
Killeeneen.

Ligm got the companiesgs into maXlzhing order. He
kept my company for rearguard action as it was thé best
equipped. Liam and Eddie Corbett, our Battalion
Adjutant, and I were in charge of the rearguard., We
intended trying to get down through Clere county and if
we got anﬂugh:halp to fight our way to Limﬂriag.

We bye-passed the village of Craughwell. ot far from-

the village we met two priests who told us we were

marching to certain dsath. They had definite
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information *that- Dublin had given in and that the
soldiers in Galway were aware of our mwemer;.ts and were
mgrching to meet us. We came t0 an old house in a
place called Limepark, sbout half way between ardrshan
and Gort, and decided to hold council there,

Father Fahy and Father O0'Farrell were the priests' nanmes.

Fr. Fehy t0ld us he had ¢ome from Dublin. He pointed

out the hopelessness of the situation to us. As soon

as Liam got inside he sat on the floor with his back
egainst the wall and fell asleep. Alf Monaghan who wae
orgeniger under Liam, was the only one who said that we
should keep on the fight, so when I saw how things were,

I said we must know what our Gommendant (Iilem) has to say.
We woke him up and told him how thinge wéi*a.

When Liem understood the sifuation he apologised
for having slept and now he said, "I brought ‘out the men
to fight, not to run away. If they disband now, what
will happen, They will be shot down like rabbits
without a chance of defending themselves, I refuse o
disband them. I hand over command toc an;roné who wants
it. I have not slept for three nightas. I'm going 1;0
sleep here until the soldiers come and will fight while
I am able and then they can do what they like to me",

T knew that he meant every wcirﬂi of thim, and I learned

later that he was determined |to give his life in the
fight. Alf Monaghan sald he would stay with him.

The predicament I was in wag that if I announced that

I would stay and thd men of my company knew it, every man
of them would insist on staying with me; so0 Fr. Fehy
said he would tell the men how the position was, and
when he announced that all the officers except two had
agreed to disband, one of my men asked who are they, and
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when he was told he gave a disgusted grunt,

D I wouldn't like to witness agaln the scene that
was créated by the disbandment. I saw big six-footers
weeping. There was terrible confusion but in the midst
of it all the rifles were thrown here and there on the
ground. I went round and made my men take them up and
bring them with them. Theéy brought them and hid them

on the way home.

Iiam went round emongst the men consoling,
encouraging end bildding goodbye. Everyone was asking

every other one"where are you going to go, what are you

going to do". A brother of mine came up end asked me
what I was going to do and when I told him I wes going to
stay with Liam, the poor fellow brdke down - it was a
ged sight.  TWhen Liam had bidden goodbye to all of them,
he came up to me. "Goodbye, Frank", he said. My only
fear was that he would cbject to my steying with him.

I sald, "I'm staying with you'. The poor man took my
hend in both his and said, "God hiasa you', I knew he
appreciated it very much because I think I was the only
one who bothered sbout his fate. = They were nesrly all
gone when Liam and Alf and I were standing together
ready to0 go back to the house, when Lijam sald, "do you
know what I was thinkingg laeds. It would be better %o
make a ruming fight of it than stay in that house. :

We could give a better account of ourselves'. ALL and
I agreed. 80 we got into a motor which the driver had
been fixing for the road, and there was a long avenue
into ﬂﬁa house. On the way out one of the officers
who saw me in the car, jumped on the running boerd and
acked me where I was going. I said, "I'm staying with
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Liam and ALf", and Liam saild, "ah!, come on along with us",
but before hé had finished saying this the officer had
disappeared. Llam told me affer that it was
consideration for my wife and children that made him
decide not to stay in the house,

We went into a house that was quite close to
Lime Park. It balonged to Pete’ Howley, one of the men
#ho was out with us. - We had a feed there and then ook
the road, or rather the fields, It was about 4 o'clock
 when we errived on the road within about 100 yards of the
Peterswell police barracks not far from Ballyahalan.
Talking of Ballycahalan reminds me that I forgot to
mention ebout PAdraic Fehy's part in the rising, When |
Liam was in Killeeneeh he sent Phdraic withb‘zal, despatch to
Father Meehan in Kinvara (this was inmsdiately before
they started out). ®When the car arrived at Fr, Meehan's
there waré two peelers who covered PAdraic: and the driver.
Pédraic put up :Ja-.‘ fight but was eventually overpowered.
The driver escaped with the cer and brought back word of
P4draic's arrest. ILiam starteﬁ out with hisg men thinking
that Pédraic would be brought to Galway Ja.-il.l He tried
to intercept them but he was brought to Limsni’ck ingtead.
That was the start of the rising in Galway.

When we got- authun the road we made for
Patsy Corliss's house, an 0ld man who was a member of the
Ballycahalan company. ‘ He had a great welcome for us.
There was no one in the house but himself and his brother
and they had only one bed. They got out of the bed and
we went into it. TWe aslept the round of the clock.
On Sunday night we went across to another old volunteer
and remained there until Monday night. We could see the
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village of Ballycahalan about three-quarters of a mile

acrogs from us.

On Monday morning the peelers ventured out and
they advised any of the lads who had guns to give them up.
They were very nice until they found out that all the
£ighting was over, and then they came tearing down the
village like roaring lions, went into houses, tore down
ceilings, broke open bozxes and showed the cowardly

bully in every way. There was some heavy rain a few

days previous and the road to where we were was flooded,
and the peelers didn't care for wet feet. We were
inside in a amall room when some lady visitor haﬁﬁanﬂd
to come into the house. She was full of news about the
rising. "I hear", she gald, "that Llem Mellows escaped,
drelﬁaad up as a woman", fThe woman of the house _
pretended to be surprised. "Ch, yes", she 'aaiid., fyou
know he's a very good-locking fellow'. A few of the
neighboirs came end stood in front of the house locking
down at the peelers in the valley., One fellow said,
"ign't this tereible work. TWhere's Mellows now? That's
the way, there isn't & tinker "that comes along here but’
they make a 1ittle God of him. - I always told them he
was no good", Liam told me afterwards that that fellow
was the firat to welcome him to the village every time
he came. The name of the man in whoge house we were
was William Blanch.

That night we moved up about two miles to the 'hop
of a mountain where there was a cattle shed. It was
roofed with scraws or sods. It was divided in two.

It was owned by a farmer named Hood. There were a couple

of bullocks in one part and some dry, or I should say,
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damp straw in the other. We astayed there until the
following Friday, Poor old Blanch ﬁs hiding in the furzs
during the day end then when it got dark he trudged up the
mountain with some grub for us. §ometimes he would

bring us a bit of boiled cabbage stuffed into a jam jar;
sometimes nothing but potatoes, but so long as it was grub
we were glad to get it as we had. only m-feed in the
twenty-four hours. Hood got a bad fright when he first
discovered us. He was afraid we would be caught in his
shed and he would get into trouble for sheltering us..
Evei-y evening he would come with & true tale that the
peelers were coming up the mountein in the.morning and
wouldn*t be at all pleased.@hen he came back next day Bnd
found us still there, a few "suggestions he ma.d.a t0 us gave
us t0 understand that if he could get us out of his shed
he didn't care what happenéd to us and he had. not the
courage t0 inform on us, ' ,

- On Thursday night we decided to move.in the morning.
We made our way down to Bjanch's. .@e didn't know how to
approach the house lest they would have wisitors. There
was a sheep dog at the corner of .the house and' Liam did
his best to make him bark, but instead of barking when
Liam threw a stone at him, he slumk away. We essld some
prayers for that dog, Liam then crept to the corner of
the house .and hopped a stone in front of the door. We
retired and waited. . Soon Mrs. Blanch came out and brought
us in, ghe gave us a good feed a:nd.. filled a haversack
for us for the roed. '

We started out next morning about three c'elock,
moving south towards glare, Liam t0ld us that he had an
uncle in Scariff, and just in order to have a particular
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point In view, we sald we would make ocur way to that
place.” We kept walking until about six o'clock. fie
came t0 a big river and we were lucky enough to hit on
the only bridge for miles. We crossed the river and

got into a big wood where we spent our day. we had
breakfast about 6.30. @e found a little stredm running

- through thd wood and had a wash - the first for a
fortnight. Our ha:waraéak was empty when breskfast was
finished except about 4 ounces of bread. Liam had a map
and an electric torch and we spent the day studying the "
mep for the road to Scariff, ;;.1: 5 o'clock we ate the
ration of bread; about 5 o'clock we said our Rosary in
Irish, and started out across a very rough mountain.

Qur torch got broken and the night mgL_s: very darik. Be
were tripping over roots and falling into holes in thé
dark. after about an hour we happenéni on & road bhut

we couldn't ascertain if it were one of the roads marked
on the map. There were some houses on the side of this
road and Alf said he would go and inguire for the right
road. When he knocked at the door a big man about 6 foot
4" opened it. ALf asked him for the road to Flagmount.
"Yerra, man", he said, "you'll never venture on the road
a night like this. Come in and I'1l put you up for the
night even though I have a house f4ll of children (this
in a very pronounced Clare accent)®. Alf told him he had
two pels outside, so he came out and told us he would
walk & bit of the 'way with us. Eiam said that would be
too much trouble. - "Ch, not at all", he said, "I'd like to
help anyone on the road. Ye might be some "of them

Sinn Féiners for all I know". "That's just what we are",
Liem told him.  “Ch, holy smoke", he said, "sure your
lives aren't worth s thraneen, the soldiers are searching

the country everywhere, and if they come across you they'll
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- ghoot you". He walked along with us for gbout a mile

and gave us all sorts of advice. He told us we should

separate and get work from farmers,

He intentionally directed us on the wrong road
(which we found out after). He was afraid that if we
kept to the public road we would be capturea;i}:; shot.

He directed us on a road that was leading right up into
the heeart of the mountains. Affter he had left uﬁ we came
to a cros;a; rogds, and we saw & black object on the other
gide. "That's a peeler", sald Liam, "teking out his

automatic. “He went in & erouch across the r;oad but soon

. came back disgusted. "Damit", he said, "1t is only an

old ass".  "Rell", said Alf, "he can be thankful for
once in"his life for being an ass instead of a peeler',

-

We had an uphill trudge once we left the cross

roads. We had nothing to eat since we ghared our four

cunces of bread at 5 o'clock, It must DB about 12
o'clock when we felt s0 done up that we could go no
farther. Although it was making a sort of .d.:':'izaling rain
we would have to lle down somewhere. The hills were
rising on each slde of the road. We climbed one of them
on our hands: snd knees -~ the only place we could get to
lie was between two big square rocks. I'ni gure they
were about ten feet every way. We lay down and owr

only covering was an old friege coat belonging to me.

Cur bed was anything but comfortable. However, we |
were s0 exhaussed that we fell asleep. We slept for
about two hours and when we woke we were gore all over
from the stones on which we were lying. Liam was

always more interested in our comfort then in his own.

"How do you feel?", he sald to me. "Rotten", I said.
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*I am shivering with cold". Liam began to laugh.
"Remember", he saild, “ma;:;r are cold but few are frnzan",
but where I told him to go wasn't cold,

We passed the time as best we could until daylight.
The rain cleared off as the sun was riaing a.nd we sat down
and studied the map. VWie then found that the road we
were on wes leading us away from Scariff and that the
road we wanted was running parallel to ours about three
miles away. We were ravenously hungry. I ,Isearfnhed the
haversack for & few crumbs. = The only thing I got wae a
boiled potato and when I went to divide it I found it
was bad in the centre. ' I stood up and called on my
pals. "Come on, lads, I'm going té get bregkfagti if
I were to shoot my way t0 it". We walked along the
road and before long we saw the thin blue smoke curling
upr in g perpendicular column rrcm the chimney of a farm
houss. I sald, "there's our breakfast. Walt here
and I'll see aboud it". I walked to the house; the door
was open and a young woman was standing.at the fire.
The table was lald for breekfast and I feasted my eyes on
e most beautiful home-made cske about 15" in dlameter end
12" high, ‘I had to exercise all my will power to
restrain the savage desire to go and grab that ceke and
hop it. Ingtead I agked the woaman if she would mgke
a cup of tea for three of us who had lost our way and
were walking all night. Naturally she had no welcome
for me at that hour of the morning, but she said,
"T will mgke a cup of tea for: },'ruu anyhow", E'Uf course",
I sald, " we wlll pay you for your troubls", - She )
ignored this. I marched down to the lads with my head
in the air and I ennounced that bresklfast was ready.

That ceke that I mentioned was a feed for six men, but
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by the time that we had devoured two blue duck eggs each
and our share of the cake I doubt if there was enough
left to give the man of the house his breskfast, who by
the way, came in as we were eating, and the only thing
that wroubled him was that we would kill ourselves eating,
When we were finished we wanted her 40 teke some money
but she got very indignant. "ghat do ye think.we are at
all to charge ye for a cup of “tae?",

‘We started on the road again, This \m;as about
6.45 a.m. and the people were beginning to be about.
After g short walk we came 10 a gap in the hills and
took the fields. e got into a kind of pla:teau
surrounded by ';ery high hills. We came acrosa a nice
patch of heather, sofi as a carpet. We lay down like
the babes in the wood and let the cares of the world
look after themselves - we slept to our hearts' content,

I don't know how long we slept but I was the first
to weken. I was on my knees saying a few prayers when
I saw a tiny object mowing on top of one of the
mountains and it was moving in our direction. After some
time I discovered that it was a man, I notlced that he
had his hand in his coat pocket. I £inished my prayers,
sat on the ground and put my hand in my pocket and kept
my eye on him, The lads were still asleep. ~ When he
came within gbout ten yards of me he sat on a rock.
"You are strangers round here", he said. I told him e
fishy yarn about cattle jobbers going to the fair of
Limerick, knowing well he wouldn't believe me. He tola
me 0 in so many words. "I think you are Sinn Féiners".
He had' two dogs and one of them licked Liam's face and ~
awoke him. He just heard the stranger say "Sinn Féineprsg®
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He sat bolt uprlight and stared at him. . "fHe are

Sinn Féiners", he said. The stranger smiled and sald,
"yoire just come to the right place. I knew the boys
vere disbanded in Gelway and I thought that some of them
might teke to the hills". Away at the foot.of one of
the hills were three young colts: and when the stranger
saw them he geve an exclamation of surprise. el 1! B
he said, "that's a curious coincidence. You sée thém
three horses -~ I spent theee days looking for them.

I searched through a great area and this is the Yast
plece I would expect to find them, It was mere
curiosity  that made me c¢limb the hillw, Liam and he
got into conversation snd he happened “t0 bé acquainted
with a lot of Liam's friends in Dublin as he spent a
nunber of years: thére as: a shop assistant. He then
agked us what we intended doing and Liam told him about
hiis uncle in Scariff; if we can get in touch with him,
he may be able to help us, |

-"You have no use trying to get through the country
at preéént if you vwalue your lives; the soldiers ere
gearching werwheré. I heppen to be cagptain of the
local company. We didn't get a chance of doing _
anything and now that you have done your bit, the least
we might do is lock after you. I will ask you 0 walt
here for a b.it and I'1l be back as soon as I can',

He then left us. We walted for about 2% hours and

I was beginning to get impatient. I said, “that fellow
won'"t come atal®, It would be about 4 p.m. Dy this time.
Soon we saw him coming and he had a big basket on hig

ari.

He lald down the basket, took out a tablecloth,
three big plates of 'imileﬂ. bacon, a large home-made cske,
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and all the necessgitiss for a good feed, not forgetting a
teapot of tea. VWhile this good fﬁ;ry was preparing this
magic feast he was explaining the cause of ﬁhé delay.
"@hen I went in", he sald, "my sister was ;iust; going into
town (Tulla was about three miles from vwhere he lived) and
I told her my story*. "Ch*, she said, "I haven't a bit of
bread in the house", "so ghe had to turﬁ'ﬁ0=aﬁﬁ”bake a ceke,
that was what delayed me",

Picture us who had nothing since 6,30 Bsle Starting
in at that feed. The trouble was, we didn't know when to
- stop. When we were finisghed we lay back - there was
nothing recessary to complete our happiness but a good
smoke. It was at least three days since ILiam or I had a
smoke. ALE didn't smoke, but our friend left nothing
undone. He pulled out a big plug of tobacco. . "jAnyone
smdkiné?"; Liam and I jumped up. Did we eﬁjéy that
smoket lying on the flat of our backs. "Iet the whole
British Army come now, but we must have oir smoke".

Qur good friend‘é name was .Michael lgloney from a willage
c¢alled Balluactra sbout three miles on the Galway side of
the little town of Tulla,

Qur friend took us to a place where the furze grew
t0 a height of eight feet. tyou will he.safe there until
it gets dark", he said. He left us a lot of papers
with the news of all the executions., Liam was very much
affected as he was intimate with all those who were
executed, and this was the first news we had-aiﬁce we

came out,

Then it got dark our friend Michael came back and
told us of an 0ld stable that was built partly under a hill.
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"You will be fairly safe there for a week anyhow', _
He had another young man with him named Tom Hogan. _
This young man had very little t0 say but as we found
out after, was very reliable, We went into thé stable
in which there happened to be a fireplace. = They
gﬁthared_sﬂme thick bits of furze and made a fire. _ We
chatted there for hours; but in the meantime John, g
hrothai- of Michael's, brought some bedclothes. There
was about 2' 6" of dried manure on the floor of the '
stable., Thé bédclothes were laid on top of this but
there was no 'Odearest' - nothing we ever enjoyed as that
first night between the sheets,

We told Michael about the house where we got our
‘hreakra‘.gt, Tom Hogan was listening in gilence. We were
told afterwards that he went hot foot next morning to
£ind out if this men was able to keep his secret or was
he inclined t0 blab. I hear", he said, "that three
8inn Péiners passed this way tlils morning énd that they
called here for their breakfast®. The man locked at him
with well assumed surprise. M'@ho told you that yarn?",
he said, "COh! I found it out®, Tom said, "you found
out a dam lie - 'no Sinn Féiners: called here.  If they
did, we didn't see them". He did his best to get him to
admit pretending all thé time that he only heard the news,
and when he found that the man was solid and not inclined
t0 blab, he got up and as he walked out, he said, "well,
aren't peopls the devils for telling lies". He came
é.war'aatiafied that the secret was safe. ~ He never

mentioned this %o us - Hichael heard about it and told us.

There were 900 goldiers in the town of Tulla
searching everywhere for rebels., For the first couple of
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wecks ‘we used ggthar up our bedding and go out under the
furze during the day and one kept watch while the others
slept. We did this in turn; Michael, being company
ceptain, was wondering why they were not comlng for him;
he gave us his rifle and revolver.

It looked as iIf God had a special hand in guiding
us into the only district where there were no arrests
made. The reason is that the peelers refused to give
them the mcaséar:r information. When the soldiers came
to Pulla, the local head constable was acting D.I. and
he went to meet them. He 'grmra]_‘l.ed 80 much and was s0
glawish in his manner telling them that he and his men
would tseke them round, that they were dlisgusted with him
and used very insulting language torhim and when he saw
their attitude towards him he refused to give them any
help; hence our safety.

After a fortnight the soldiers departed and we felt
fairly secure. Wo enjoyed the fire every night until
morning and slept ‘during the day as we couldn't light a
fire in the daytime. We had many adventures during our
six months stay In that stable. I will just mention one
or two as I fear my story will be tuq long before it
is finished,

Liam was always more anxious about his pals than
about himself: He knew that my wife would be in a bad way,
not knowing what my fate was, s0 he contrived a means of
sending a message. He told Michael and Michael said that
there would be a fair in Athenry in a few days and he
could travel as a cattle jobber. The soldiers were
everywhere by this time and it was hard to trawel round.
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We sent whatever money we had and Liam wrote a little

riote to a lady friend of his. He twisted the note and
put it into his pipe and put some tobacco over it.

Michael set out and when he reached the station in Gort
there were a lot of soldiers there. ¥hen the train came
in they got on board and started to search everyons.

They eventually came to Michael and after asking his name
and a few other questions they ordered him to;taks off his
boots.  "Look here, mate", he said to the afficér,

"I take off them boots every night anﬁ put them on every
day and that's quite enough for me. If you want to phnch
them you will have to teke them off yourself", While
they were teking off the boots Michael was getting nervous
about the note. "I might as well have a smoke while
you're at that job", he said. He took out Liam's pipe and
11t 1t and when théy went to seerch his pockets they found
his own pipe and turned out the heel of tobacco to search
the pipe. If they found thatnote, they would be down

on top of us before anyone could warn us.

I think it was sboul the end of September that word
cams from Fr. Meehan who was making érrangemEnxs to get
the boys who were "on the run" out of the country. They .
discovered where we were and sent word to Liam that two
fellows BEddle Gorbett and Pat Gallanan had seamen's
passes and any of them was willing to let Liam gn;in hig
place. ILiam gpurned the idea of leaving the country for
his own safety. He wanted to mske me go and I refused.
He sent back word that he wouldn't go. - afternaﬁuut a
fortnight he got a definite order from Volunteer
‘Headquarters to prepare to go to America, that there
was: important work for him to do. He had to obey this

and made the necessary preparatianeQ ILiagm's hair was
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very light in colour so thet 1t had to be dyed. e
dyed his hair and moustache which he wore while "on the
run", He got a new brown suit, dbrowm sheces: and all,

¥We were very lonely when he left us.

Alf and I spent another month together when another
fellow was brought away. I was taken away t0 a place
called Bawn sbout four miles outside Henagh in Tipperary.
Father Eennedy who was ieaching in some college in
Ennis, hea.t:d about us and decided to send me down to his
mother's place. $he had two sons and a daughter at
home and they did everything they could to make me
comfortable.

I was there about a week when one day a motor came
into the yard and s priest, the boys' unele, and another
brother and two girls, cousins, came in. Ve were not
prepared for them, so I blurted out the first story
I thought of; kurphy from Waterford. The priest was
very inqulsitive and when I got him alone I told him
the truth, I said I would be there for a few days
only. The man who came with him happened to be County
Surveyor in Galway. Whether the priest told him or
whether he had seen me before I don't know, but about
a week after, another priest came along and f.ol-:il me that
he just had got word from this Gounty Surveyor that the
police in Athenry knew where I was and that the house
would be ralded that night. The priest told me he dild
not believe the story himself, ng think", he said,
"they heve the wind up". This pPiest's neme was
Fr. Culligen, a rebel at heart. "I will have to take
you over to my own place", he said. He lived in the
Silvermines. I protested against this and said

I wouldn't like to bring any trouble on him, but he
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registed and so .I went with him, His house was very

small but he and his housekeeper locked after me well,

The only exerclise I could take was a walk in the

garden at night with Fr. Culligen and wearing one of his

coats. There was @ high wall round this garden buf
there was a gap near the house between it and the next
house. Ome night we were walking up and dorm the

garden and as we came opposite the gap we heard a sound
as if gomeone had kicked & tin.,  Fr. Culligan stopped
and listened, then he beckoned to me to go iﬁtc the houss.
I went in and had almost forgotten the incidsnt but

after a quarter of an hour he came in in a terrible rage.
mipis an awful thing", he said, " that a man van't live
ih his own country without being spied on". I aakéd him -
what héppeneﬂ. "I found a spy", he said, "lying under

a bush. I asked him what he was doing there and he said
he was only waiting until we passed to get out by the
yard gate'. He pulled him out from under the bush and
put him on his knees. ttyou've being spying", he said.
"Now I want you to swear that you won't tell anyone what
jou saw or heard tonight", and when he had sworn

Fr. Culligan said, "Now you have éworn and now as: a priest,
i swear on my solerm oath if anything happens: to that
dhap,ll‘li shoot you, and don't let me see you outside
ynur'oﬁﬁ.hnuae tonight",

FPather Cullizan had a pony and irap. "Go down and
tackle the pony", he said. "I'll have to také you away
from here tonight. I don't trust that fellow". He went
out the village and I went down and tackled the pony.

 When Fr. Culligen came back he told me we wouldn"t reguire
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the pony. "I wired the doctor for a sick call. He's %o
call at the parish priest's house, and what do you
think, he said - I found that spy outside on the path
and I caught him by the seruff of the neck and slung him
in sbout the house. I got two fellows to cut .the
wires and they will bring you out through the garden
across the village té the priest's house. , Put on a
collar and coat belonging to me". I was léd across

the village to the priest's house and when the doctor
arrived, he told him about me and said he wanted to
bring me to Borrisokane. He explained to;me that there
was a priest, Fr. 0'Halloran, who was in cﬁérge of a
volunteer company, and I think he will be able to get
you put up safely. |

'We started out on our journey and aveniually
arrived in Borrisdkane. Fr. Culligan went in and
explained to Fr. Q'Halloran about me; then he came out
t0 he_lp the doctor p.l.it up. the car. "You can g0 in now",
he gaid to me. I went up and the priést was standing
at the door. I shook hands with him, “Goaa;dnight,
Father", I said, He kept locking at me for a while and
then he sald, "Is it true what Pr, culligan told me ghout
you?", I sald, "I don't know what he told you".

"He said you were a fellow 'on the run'. I said, “that
“ig true enough', He just smiled, “"M'i‘e not going
to catech me.wi‘!ih thati trick", he said. I sald, "I don't
see any trick". Then he laughed outiright. “#hat's the
joke,. Father?', I asked., He locked at me ggain. “"Do
you mean to téll me that you're not a prfieat?"., .he asked,
I laughed then and told him I wasn't lucky enough".
"well", he said, "you could pass the best detective in

Dublin and he would salute you and would never suspect you"
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Father Culligan wanted our hogt to get some of the
Volunteers to put me up. Fr. O'Halloran said "why can't
he stop here?". "ie wowldm't be safe'. However, after
some argument it was decided that I stay in the priest's
house. They had a few drirks and were talking for
gbout an hour when Fr. Culligan got up suddenly and a&m.
"I'm not going tn lea‘re that man here;if anything happened
%0 him, now that I have taken him on hands I would shoot
myself". There was some further argumant and then the
doctor said, "I'll drive him to Bﬂlfaat 12 I get a tin of
petrol®, FI'. ‘O'Halloran had a tin to spare and we decided
to take the road again.

Fathef Culligan told me had two.brothers liwing in
big manslon in a place called shinrone gbout four miles:
from Birr. = "I'm going to bring you there". We arrived
there about 12.30 The people of the housé were in bed
but m roused them up, They already had a conseript
from England but there was plenty of room for me,

I wasn't long there when Alf was brought along.
We spent about three months there. Itr. Culligan bought
some cerpenter's tools for me, cut down several trees snd
got them sawn into boards and scantlings, and I was gulte
happy ma;king fiﬁld gates, barrows, etc., etc, |

One night one of the brothers came and told us that
he was afraid we would have to leave, at least for a while,
It seems that some fellows were playing cards in ahouse
in the villagge and one of them blurted ocut that there
were three Sinn Féinerag staying at Guiligana-. There w;é
a sergeant in the village who was very nosgey. He came
therd a few times while we were there but never saw us.

Ijow that the news was out it would not be long until the
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gergeant got it. 50 we started‘ out once more for
Borrigokane to Fr, O'Halloran but he wouldn't venture
to put us up as he said his: place was being raided

neerly every night, but he got us put up in a farm house.

Next morning my two pals, ALf aend 9 (I can't think of

the conscript's name) started out for Dublin.
John Culligan told me to remain on, that he would bring
me back again when things settled down., |

I put in a terrible three weeks. I was worse off

than a prisoner in jail. My room was ehout 5'x6' and

I couldn't leave it day or might, they were s0 careful
lest enyone would know I was there. it nigﬁ_t the
kitchen was full of wisitors. One night John Gulligan
came far mé. He had to come 1n through the roonm
window and brought me out thet wey snd home to his own
place again.

Iet me explain in passing that I got a me ssage
home sbout every couple of months, sometimes three.

While I was in Culligans I got a letter (we had our own

‘a'.?atem’uf comunication apart from the reguler which -

I couldn't trust) (a cattle dealer, a railway guard,
a priest, or anyone in sympathy with us were enlisted

in our service) from home in answer o one I sent a couple

of montha before, and my wife told me that the house was
raided every morning at 4 o'clock. One of the children
was: on the point of death, but they didn®t mind. They
wouldn't even walt for her to open the door; they

burst it in every morning for six weeks, and tliha reason
was, they recognised me as the one who led the attack: on
the seven peelers at the égricultmal Station in Jthenry.
They described o her seveéral times the different kinds
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~ of death they were to deal out to that - - of a
husband of hers.

I was only a few weeks back at Culligans when one
day I was told a priest wanted to see me. It was
Pr. Tom Fahy, the man who disbanded the men at Limepark.
I"II have a job for you in Maynooth", he said. "I am
perfectly heppy here®, I said, "and I can be of some
little use t0 HMr. culligan working at my trade.
Nr, Culligan told me not to mind thet part of it, but,
of course, I_woulﬂ. like to have your company". "How',
said ;ﬂ'. Fahy, "are you going to disappoint me after
I cyeling 45 miles from na,?nuo'bh. " AL is up there and
he asked me t0 bring you along.™ I thought it would
be ungrateful to refuse after that.

¥Mr. Culligan got out the pony amiltrap. Fr. Fshy
gave me his bike and went in the trap. I had a bundle
of clothes as I had no case for them. We were early
for the train, We put up the bundle and bike at the
station and went to the hotel for a drink. After some
time we strolled leisurely into the station. . We were
getting our tickets when the station mas;t-er agked
Fr. Fahy if he was going on the train., "I am”, said he.
tyou want to hurry", he said, "the train is nﬁ"the move'.
Fr. Fehy rushed ouf. I was in'a quandary as to what to
do - I had no ticket and the bike and bundle had to be
| got out. I left all and rushed out but a porter -
stopped me and s0 I was left on the platform. The
porter explained that there was an inspector on the train
but for that they would wait. It was my first time for
six months to appear in public and I thought that
everyone who met me would know that I was a wanted man,

Yeg) while we were in the gtable we saw a few copies
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of the "Hue and Cry" and my name gand degeription were
on it. =~ I rambled out the country road until next
train time in about -four hours.

I got into Xingsbridge gbout 12.30, tried to get
lodging and had to put up in the Four Courts Hotel,
T hed to sign the register. I slgned Pat Sweeney,
Limerick. The hall porter was locking at me.
Iimerick!", he said, "why, there's a wedding party here
from Limerick (we heard them talking and laughing) you
might know them", "I don't want to meet anyone", I said,

"I'm dead beat'.

After breskfast I started out, took a tram to Incan
sand had to walk from there. I couldn't bring Fr. Fehy's

bike lest it would be recognised by the gate man,

I won't go into details -of the three months I spent
in Maynocoth, suffice it to say that I was fémaderéd from
running from 6.30 a.m. till 9.30 p.m. for &%d. per day.

There was a priest there from Gaﬂc, Father Duggan,
He had something to do with getiting me the job. He met .
me one day and asked me If I would like to get a Jjob at

my trade (carpenter). I said I would. tould you

' like to work in gork City?v. T said, "YesM, "“Very

good", he said, "I'll manage it for you in about a week".
He t0ld me to give notice and get ready. TWe went up %o
Dublin and he brought me to- Volunteer Headquartersg.,

I met Hichael Collins who gave me a letter of
introduction to the boys in Cork. Fr, Duggan put me

on the train to Gork. The f£irst man I met was a medical
student named Tim Donoven. He showdd me round and what

was more important he showed me 'all the detectives, and
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anytime we would pass one out he would say t0 me "s0 near
and yet so fax’:“. The people of Cork are very wary of a
ar;br&nger. 'Y ifound it hard to get into a volunteer
company at first. I was lodging in a place that I din's
like, Pr. Duggan warned me not to go near liiss O'Brien's,
the West. Cork Bar. He said it would be too .dangerous.

I happened to go into a house and the lady of the, -huusé
was a relation of Hiss O'Brien's. I asked her could she
kKeep me. I explained to her that I was a cﬁrpenter
working in the city. &he said, "you will have to be

out early". I sald, "8 o'clock". "Ch", she said,
"that would be too early for me",  Another young lady
happened t0 be standing by and she said, "did you try
Fiss O'Brien?", I said I was warned not to go there.
She lodked at me in surprise and asked, why! I said,
it is too dangerous®, “Ch, don't be silly", she sald.
ngome with me and I'1ll fix you up. I'm the owner of
that dangerous cam_xi-"'.l She happened 0 be head of
Qumenn na mBan and the first Job I got waes drilling them.
I even had to bring them out for route marches. I ‘g0t
in with a few of the boys in O'Brien's and we set to work
getting the few scattered lade who wére not in jall, out
into the hills, drilling and organising. He képt pegging
at it until the gensral ammesgty same time in June 1917.
all the boys were let out of jall and Dev and a big crowd
of the released prisoners. were to come to Cork on

Saturday night.

I wanted to go home after doing 14 months "on the
run”, but kiss O'Brien told me I must wait and welcome
Dev and the mst. I said, "there will-be a welcome for
myself ﬁvan I go home", We argued for two days.

On Saturday evening I was getting ready .  Someone came

in and she introduced me and explained all about me, and
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"pere he is now", she said, "running away and all the
boys coming here tonight", "“Of course", slie said,

"y know you are anxious to get home, and your people
are anxious to meet you, but you must femember that a
lot of the boys passed by their own homes in order %o
take part in the demonsiration tonight".,. The result
of the argument was that I decided to stay. I got

" ready t0 go down to meet the boys and as I was golng out

the door she put a loaded revolver into my hand.
"Pake this", she said, "you might want it". I took it

-

and put it in my pocket,

There was a great erowd waiting for the train,
lolling about here and there, and as goon as the train
came in the procession formed up automatically. There
was great excitement for some time before the
procession started. I don't know how it happened, but
wheﬁ I had time to thirnk uf'nw;elf I found mysslf not
faﬁ from the head of the procession with a big
republican flag in my hand. We reached the Grand
Parade where a p_iﬁtform was erected.. Dev a.r'_::d some of

the boys spoke, and the meeting broke up gquietly.

On Sunday evening Tim Donovan and I had Just come
in from a walk in the country and we saw a lot of people
walking aimlessly up and down the sireet, Tim said to
me, "wouldn't you almost feel the tenslon - it is like
the éalm before the storm"., When we reacheﬁ; the end
of Patrick Street a few soldiers' wives were coming
up the Grand Parade singing three cheers for the red,
white and blue, end weving ribbons. The crowd rushed
at them and scattered them; then from the Goal: Quey came

a shower of stones. There was murder in a few minutes.
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Immediately after about 50 of' these women, half-drunk,
marched down Patrick Street and got into the fight.
When they werée vanguished the whqle erowd, sbout 1,000,
without any orders, marched up the street to the
recrulting office at Patrick Street Bridge. There was
a large plecture of Lord Kiitchener on the window.

The widow was broken and Lord Kitchener teken out and
thrown in the river. All the allied flags were flying
 over the front of the roof. &1l those were torn down.
;a‘ tnion Jack that flew over the tram pole was taken dowm
and g tricolour put w in its EtEaﬂ; -

The next thing we saw was about two dozen peelers:
with their helmets and rifles, marching up the street.
Some of the crowmd rushed for the lanes, The peelers
lined up in front of the recrulting office and were
pelted with stones from the Ianes; then there was a
bayonet charge down the street. My chum and I remained
on the footpath and as the last of the peelers was
passing, a fellow ran out of a lane with a big ash plant.
He got behind the last peeler and let him have it;
one inch lower, and the peeler's troubles were over for
a tiime, but the lower rim of the helmet saved him. He
staggered across the street but kept going and didn't

even 100k back.

Then they got about half way down the street they
turned back teking footpath and all. I was carriied off
my feet and I next found myself Jammed in a laneway.
After a lot of pushing and jostling I got clear of the
mob and made my way to the digs. Miss O'Brien was very
excited; she wanted to be in the thick of it,  There
was a lot of street fighting, pelting the peelers with
gtones or anything the boys could get to throw at them,
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About 11 p.m. Miss 0'Brien couldn't stand it any
Ionger, and she came +0 me and sald, "I want to post a

letter. Will you come as far as the Post Office with me?.

well!, I never was what you eall herolc - I never cared ~
to be where there was fighting unless I had to, dbut

T wasn't going to let this brave girl see that I was afraid.
Now, thé Post Office was in the midst of the fighting area.
There is'a street running straight from the Post Office

on to Patrick Street, QA crowd of the boys stood at the
Posgt Office end and a e_rhwﬂ; of sgoldiers' wi'resfwerer a.tl the
other end, and a peeler with a 'anonet- was rumning from

one end of the street to the other, roaring like mad, o

keep the two crowds separated. Just then a company of
soldiers took up position at the Patrick Street end -
trench helmets, rifles and bayonets. This gave the women
graat'murage and they shouted to the boys, '"coms on now,

::;a slackers', The street was empty except the peeler who

wag doing his stuff with the bayonet. TWhen Miss O'Brien
posted her letter she said, "come on up this way",
indicating the street occupiéd ﬁy the mad peeler. "jAre
you mad?", I said, "to try to pass that fellaw"-'l. ghe just
looked at me and amiled. Mare you afraid?", ~Of course,
I was afraid, but I didn’'t tell her. '"COme on", I saids
#§e passed along thé streat and the peeler passed on down
like a steam engine roaring. She was very much amused
but faith I wasn't. That was alright until we came to
where the soldiers were., Then she shouted, "#hat brave
Englishemen ready to shoot down unarmed men and women,

and owr Irishmen fighting for the Emplire out in France'.

T think I was more afraid of the women thah .Ii was of the
soldiers, but before we came home we visited every part of

the city. That girl didn't know what fear was.

-
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I came home to Atheney next day and before I left
my bogs told me that if I were in any kind of trouble or
that I couldn't stay at home to come back to him.
There was a great welcome for me when I arrived. My
father, R.I.P, , Gidn't know where I had been during my 14
months' absence, I wrote to him before I came hame and he
was 80 glad to kxnow that I was safe that he told everyone ~

the result was that the peelers got to know.

The boys told me I had no use staying at home although
my father, who was a building cm:l.i:rac.tor, needed my
asgistance bad:l&:.l:. I was told that the peeler§ had sworn
to get me at any cost. After a few days I went back to
gork, The name of my employer in Cork was Hegarty.

There were two brothers -~ one l:l.ved in Sunday's Wekl, and
the other lived in Ballintemple, Blackrock. I was: Enown
on the job as Jack Sweeney. I immedistely engaged some
roomg and sent for my wife gnd'chilﬁram_ When I got
word that they were coming, I went down to the trailn to
meet them, There was a detedtive named Mailliff. He must
have got word: that my family had left for cork; I wasn't
long in the station when he came in. He Focked round the
station as i1f looking for some one and when he saw me,

I knew 1t was for me he was lodking by the way he stared
me. I just smiled and walked away.

Allout a week after my wife had come, the bosm came to
me and sald, "I'm afrald you're not upi:l of trouble yet".
I asked him why. "Just as I came to the office this
morning", he said, "there were two detectives at the door,
Mailiff and Ryan.  Hailiff and I went to school together,
he said. He asked me if I had anyone working for me )
named Hynes from Galway. i said, no'. ‘“"Are you sure?",

he said. "Of course, I'm gure'. "fhen did you take on

= . - - -
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the last man?",  “About & month ago a man named

Sweeney &ame looking for a job as a carpentef. He is
from Tipperary'. "Oh, that's him", said the detective.
"His name is Hynes from atheﬁrf. "His wife and

children arrived last week", L dnﬁ't know what you're
talking about. I gave thé man a Jjob and } find him
suitable. His name is Sweeney from Nenagh', I told him,
"gould you find out for me?", he said. "I don't spesk
to my men", I said. "Couldn't you get the foreman to
r£ind out?"., ~ "I don't speak to my foreman except on
buainess, and if you think I'm going to do your spying for
you, you are mistaken. That's what you're paid for.

What have you against him anyhow?". "Gh, nothing", he
said, "just we'd like to know could yol not sack him and
get him out of the citye". "ow", my boss said, "when
I want your advice as 0 what I am to do with my men
$*11 ask you, This man suits me and I'll keep him gs
long as it suits me to do so". I thanked my boss for
his kindness and sald T hoped he wouldn't get into any

-

trouble on my asccount.

It seems that the authorities wanted to know how 1t
was that I could be moving about under his nose, and he

having my description in his pocket.

I was ebout a month seftled down with the family when
who should come along but Alf.  That was the third time
we parted and came together again. Up to this time
I made several attempts to join some of the companies but .
they didn't seem t0 trust me. When ALf came along he
got in touch with one of the Gaptains who was a farmer
and lived in the village of Ballinhasick. Joss Richardson

was his name. He had charge of an area just outside the
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city, called Pouladuff. He was attached to No,2
Battelion, City Brigade. The Battalioh Commandant was
Sefn Scally. Alf got a job from Joss Richardson and he
told him &ll about me,. S0 Joss made it his busineass to
call on me, e had a house in BErandon Road this time,
He asked me t0 join his company, a0 I agreed. "Now," he
said, "when they find out who you aré they will all be
lhdkiné for you; don't go to any of them", His words
proved true; At a Battalion meeting shnrtly.after -
there was a great discussion. One Captain wanted to make
out that I was in his area and another that I was in his
compeny anéa. “Whatever area he is in he is in my
cCoMpany a.';ud he stays there", Joss told them, "and besides
he tried to join some of your companies and you wouldn't
have him, and now ye all want him",
. When I joined the company I found that the officers:
wer; very beckward, even the Captain knew ?E.:I'.‘F 1.11;1;1&.
I wasn*t Iong in the e.mn.pé,ny when T was made 1st Lisutensnk.
I paid”every attention to my half conpany anﬁ;aooﬁ had |
them in ghip shape. I was then appointed Lisiitenams of
Engineering. I didn't know much sbout this but I knew
és much as the rest., = The threat of conscription was in

the air and we devoted our attention to meking bomb &,

Hooutl this time our Captain of Engineering Tor the
Battalion was arrested. His name was kcHellus. He was
& guiet going man but he.was convinced that we were
always at wer with England end that he was justified in
shooting the enemy whenever opporiunity offerved, FEe was
in lodgings. I can only ‘Fhi!]}i of the landlord's
nickname - it was "Could Cabbage". One evening
McelNeilus was in hig bedroom dragéing himgelf to gIG out

viien (I think) four peelers came in to search the room,
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He told them to search away. While they were searching
he suddenly opened fire on them with his automatic.
He wounded one or two and then the gun jammed oﬁ him.
They tackled him and tried to cverpoﬁ&r him. ihe
landlord and his two daughters came up when they heard
the row.  The peelers asked him {0 go for reinforcement.
He told them to go to hell, if they weren't able to
arrest him. The two daughters did their best to keep
MeNeilus up and dowrmtﬁﬂ stairs. They fuught.for an hour.
They finally arrested him, ¥hile he was walting for
trial we felt nervous for his chances. "They will surely

hang him for shooting the peelers".

At that time, 1918, there was no limit to visitors
golng to see a priéonsr. Inaslide the bhlg wooden gate
was a walting room, Between the wooden gate an&1ﬁ big
ircﬁ gaﬁe_was a sort of a hall wide enough for alorry
to pass through both gates;outside the iron gate a path
led up a hill to the cells.

Two fellows: called to see M;Heilnshand.in about
ten minutes time two more called. They were in the
walting room with a warder who had the keys of botﬁ |
'gates. ~Now the plan was that when the two visitors who
were with the prisoner, when their visit was coming to
an end, they were to knock out the warda: with a life
preserver; the itwo in the waiting room were to
calculate the end of the visit ss the time to knoek out

their men and open the gates.

A man was placed outside the wooden gate to direct
MeNeilus round by the jail wall and on to a cross road
vhere a motor car wailted. There ig a road leading

straight from the jall gate on to the main road,
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.ﬁh_ bridge spans a stream ﬁhat runs about 30 yards from
the jail gate. On: this bridge was another man end his
duty was to hold up any soldiers who might come %o go
into the jail. As luck would have it, two soldiers
came along in a horse and tumbling cart. He held them
up, got them down from the cart and made them stand on
the bridge, He was troubled then lest any more would
come and he tock the other man away from the gate to
look after the soldiers, so that he would be free to
watch the road. The result was that McNeilus had no one
to guide him when he came out.

Inside in the waiting room the warder spotted
gsomething suspiecious about his two viglitors and he went
to the 'phone to report, but one of them broke his jaw
with a sandbag and the other knocked him out with his
life preserver, In the meantlme the wiaifors. with the
prisoner knocked out their own men, but coming down they

" found a soldier with a rifle marching up end down by the

iron gate. They watched until he had turned back on
his beat from them, then they went to the gate which

the lads had opened. lMoNeilus rushed out the other

gate and straight up the road tnwﬂ{:'ds the main road.

A youngster was practising on a bike up and down the

road. McNeilus caught him by the neck and slung him
off, got on the bike and went off like mad. I never
heaz;d of him after but he wasn't captured.

fle were trying hard %0 improve our bombs. Our
first attempt was to fill eocoa tins with conerete and
shrapnel, leaving a hole 1in the centre -for gel}igpite,
with a smaller hole in the side. The idea was, a glass
bulb was filled with sdphuric acid that was put into a

hole left in the conerete, Under the cap a powder: called
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potasium was put;ugﬁar the bulb a shopt Tuse frnm.the
detonator passed on t0 the bulb, To explode the
bomb, you had a long nall; by pushing the ﬁail hard
through the hole left for it, you broke the bulb;
when the acid and the potasium met they ignlted the
fuse, caught fire and carried it into the detonator.

We lmproved further on those by making wooden
CaBes. ‘T;'qis turned out an octagonal Bomb &' x 3"
without any covering, The iron cap was held in place
by two amall bolts buried head down in the concrete.

One night I attended a meeting of the Battalion
officers. After about an hour taking reports, ste,,
the Commandant asked me to leave the moom but to
await outside. I was_puzzled but didn't question the

‘order. I waited about 15 minutes and the next thing

I knew all the officers came over shaking hands with me.
I was then informed that I was elected Battalion
Vice Commandant. '

At the first opportunity Seédn Scally (Commandant)
and myself went into the affairs of the Battalion.
I found that up t0 this there was only an engineering

| depertment in the Battalion. We. then decided to

start a signalling, scouting and first-aild classes,
and get them into working order. I forgot to mention
the most lmportant one - the Intelligence Department.

- Then the conscription threat was about to be
out, s0 we laid our plans to meet it, We warned the
different companies not to leave anything to chance,
sc; every man had his bandages, iodine, catmeal bread,

which would keep for weeks, even the needle and thread -
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they had them all ready.

The plan we had was that the Commandant was to teke
half the Ba.tta.-lign and help to prevent the soldiers from
entering ﬁhe city, make a barricade at Patrick Sireet
Bridge by upturning the trams &craés i1t, to ;’tma _
reinforced later with sand.haga.. I was t0 captura the
local police barracks and then proceed with the rest of
the Battalion to Ballincollig, a big militax-:_l.r station,
surprise the sentries and capture the place. Vhen that
was done I was t0 send all the men and grms I could
spare into the city. I think more pecple were
diggppointed than the number that were grla& when peace

was signad: and put, off congeription.

Thomas MacCurtain, R.I.P., was our_lBrig_aﬁ;la
Commandant. One day he met me and sald, "I :think_
that Battalion is too big for Scally and yourself",
We had ten companies and most_qf_,th_eﬁ were fcul::rur five
miles from the city. "T'm thinking"™, he agid‘:'la"of '
splitting it up’. I _thought that what he intended doing
was to take a few of the ;::Qmpaniea_ and form ancther one
and leave us as we were, but instead he dissolved the
whole Battalion and held en election for two Battalion
staffs. The Commandant and I resigned and didn't go

forward for elect ibn.

There was one particular company whose offiecers

were not acting according to principle, Under the pretext

.of raiding for arms they were using the Volunteers for

the purpose of looting. when the election came on and |

all this crowd got on the Battalfion staff, then the work

started in earnest. Volunteers were called out to

guard cross roads and different points, thinking that it
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was & reid for arms, but it was either a distillery
or a poultry yerd that was raided; they even held up
people on the road and robbed them,

I went back to0 my Company.as. 18t Lieutenant.
The Gaelic League #Ard Fheis was held in Cork that year,
1918, and Dick Mulcahy was one of the judges, so we
decided to lay the case before him, of course, we
couldn't tell him that the Battalion staff werelooting
all round them. We would have been ashamed, to confess
it.  We brought them up on the plea of incompetence
in which we.were right. None of them was f£it for the
post he held., S0 Dick instituted an anquirﬁ, and when
he had' examined each of them he was disgusted.
The Lieutenant of Engineering was brought up, He was
gsled, "What ﬁoaitiuﬁ do'ynu holdf". "Lieutenant of
Engineering, Sir", "And what are your dﬁties'{j“.
"To instruct the engineers: in each company)™dnd on what
do you instruct them?", 'On blowing up bx'-‘i&gje_a and
demolishing railways". ®Welll ~a;lennaf "Does:
angineariﬁg congisgt only of those things ?éu:mantinn?".
Silence ! "Do you mean to tell me that that is all you-
know about é-nginaering?“‘. Duab)  Dieck re_:clﬁae‘d each
of them in the ranks. |

I was asked to teke charge of the Battalion but
wasn*t in a posidion to do so. The result was that the

companies were divided up with the other Battalions.

dAs 18t Lieutenant I found that the attendance was
very bad. ¥We could never get any more than a dozen men
with the officers., The chief reason was, the area of our

Gompany was outside the city and most of the members
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worked for dairy farmers, milking cows,and brineging
the milk to the dairies. Ouyr Captain, Joss Richardson,

was one of them and as such he ‘'was unpopular with the

e,

The Captain saw that as such he was a failure and
couldn't get the men to attend, so he resignead.
A meeting was called to elect a new Captain.  Froposals
were asked for and one man stood uvp and asked, "what is
the idea of proposing anyone or having an election.
I know that MG‘E: not a man here who will soldier under
any man but Frank Hynes. %We'll have him for Captain
or no one", This was endorsed by all present.,
There was a marked improvement in $the attendance from

that on.

There was a municipal election in €ork, and any of
our fellows who were not working were down at the. booths
keeping oi-ﬂ.ar. | They were not very numerous, but a corwd
of ex-goldiers came ﬁﬂ;ﬂl with revolvers. and cleared them
out, That night when I cam to my tea word came from
the Commandant, Se4n Sullivan, to mobilise all availiable
men with side arms and report at Sinn Féin Eall, Grand
Farade. It was the man who brought the message who
explained to me whai happéned. I‘notified' all the
boys I could contact, and when I reported I was ordered
to proceed to one of the bootha. e felt certain that
there was going to be trouble. There were some
Volunteers there before us and one of the ex-goldiers
was looking for troruhle; He got it too, Omne of the
company Captains hit him on the chin and he went down ,
We thought this would be the signal Tor a row but there
wasn't a word;. fhen the booth was closed we marched

to the City Hall with the men who carried the hallot
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boxes. Te had to pass through a few dark streets and

we expecied an attack at any moment, but none camne,

The raids were just starting st this time and a lot of
arrests were being made. ihenever the boys would get
word of a raid I was notified and many a morning I had to
get up at 3 or 4 o'clock and get out the country.

Things were getting so dangerous that all officers were
érderéd not to sleep at home. I told them I couldn't
sleep. away from home, whatever sbout my duty keeping me
out at night. I couldn't go away every night and leave
my wife at home as she was expecting a beby and was in
very delicate health; so0-I stayed ab hama; with the
result that there was a knock at the door one morning

at 5 o'clock; when I went down to open it I eaw a peeler
in the skyline. 'afe you kr. Hynes?". I said, "Yes™.
"You're wanted", hé said. Himself and an'ﬂrmr-SBﬁge&ﬁt
dame in and neédless to say I felt nervous because

I thought they would search the house as I had a revolver
and some coples of "An tOglach", and it méantlaix months
far each copy., Howeéver, they came up the stairs very
guietly and stood outside in the passasge while I dressed. -
My wife started complaining to them for takiné her |

‘husbend away and she in a delicate state of health.

The peeler was in sympathy, but I said, "what do you want
complaining to these meﬁ, they are only doing their duty
for small nationalities', I thought thst the

authorities' opinion of me was very small when they only

sent a peeler and a soldier to0 arrest me, The peeler
was 80 discreet that he didn't like %0 handcuff me in the
presence of my wife. &As I was going down the stairs

I thought of my tobacco, I dived into the front room

for it. The peeler came in after me and he saiﬁ, "I must
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put on these on you," "ghat's the idea?", Ii said,

"'tis not a criminal‘yﬁu'have"*. "well, you know", he
Q&id, "we have to do it". X said, "is it not bad enough
hauling a man out of bed at this hour of the morning
without humiliating him in this way2?", "Well, now",

he said, "they wont be a bit of hindPance to you.

There's a swivel on them; they are military handcuffs",.
My wife heard the argument, and thinking they were going
to shoot me, she came to the head of the stairs and as
we were going out the door s_he fainted and in falling
hit her forehead against the well. I, of course, didn't
know; this until I came back in four monthas' time,

Indeed I believe that if the peeler knew it he would
allow mé to go back to do what I could. The door of

our house opened on the gable where there was a lane,

and at the head of the lane there were gbout two dozen
goldiers, and I felt =0 proud I shouted, "Ch, bedad, ye

.y

gent a decent eéscort after all',
The peeler expressed his sympathy while we were
walking down to the 1nrmr'.1 "That's a bad case of yours",
he said, "your missus being s6 delicate, I'll tell you °
what you dught to do. Vhen you get to the jail ask for
the officer in charge and atate. your case to him and
I*11l corrohorate your statement", "Listen", I said,
"the only charge ye have against me is that I'm an
Irishman who tried to do what I can for my country, .The
fact that my wife is sick doean't make me any less an
Irighman than if ghe wéré not sick, and besides, I'm
not going to crawl to eny Englishman'. ' He shut up like
a clam, but I believe his éﬁnmatliy was genuine,
; .
They left me in a covered lorry and went off for

more victima. There were a few soldiers standing round
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the lorry, and after a while one of them sald, "perhaps
that chap would like a smoke., Help him to get his
cigarettes or pipe". I told him it was alright, I coula
manage. I had to stand up as. there was no seat.

I wasn't very long there when another prisoner was
brought. He went into the far end of the lorry and

I could just see his shape. His head was down on his
chest until T spoke. "Hgllo, mate", I said. He
inmediately jumpéd to attention. "COh, hullo", he said,
"I thought I was alone". His namé was Seé&n kurphy.
After sbout half an hour another man joined in -

Christie Q'Gorman.

e were braughk to the Detention Barracks and.
a peeler came in to search us. '"Have you any revolvers
on you?".  "If he had a revolver on him", said Christie,
"you'd Keep far away from him"., We were eventually
brought to Gork Jail . F couldn't realise that I was in
jail; it wasn's ‘anything like what I had pictured it.
I heard fellows talking and singing eround me, Someone
shouted through the window directly over mine, "Hey,
down there, have you any tobacco?". "Yes", I said.
He let down a twine with a loop in it. “Put a bit in
that", he said. &After a bit I heard again. "Hey, have
you eer an ould song?". . "Sure", "Out with it",
For breskfast I got sdme porridge in'a deep tin and a
pint of milk, and boy I did enjoy it. I was feeling
kind of glad I was in jail.f Our own fellows dished
out the grub and it was brought to you in hed in the
morning. We were only two days in Jjall when we heard
that Lord Mayor HecCurtain was murdered, We could see
the funeral through the top windows.
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We were in Cork Jail about two weeiks when one night
about '12.30 we were roused and told that we were wanted
by the militarwy. e were put in lorries and brought to
Cove, .There we were put on board some sort of a war ship. .
We certainly were not treaited very well on board; they
fed us like dogs or vpigs. & bucket of fea was left on
the floor and some dog biscuits and tins of bully heef.
We had t0 empty the tins in order 40 get something fo -
drink the tea out of, They brought us all the way ﬁy'q
water from Cove to Belfast. There were a couple of .
peelers on board and we were in Jove with them, There
was a s0ldier guarding g certain part of the ship and he
got one of the peelers: to relieve him, but they had to
withdraw him., We grosned and booed and shouted "put out
the murderer", ' One of the soldiers told us in gcret
that we were golng to Belfast and when we found it out
each man seribbled a note home, . e gavé our letters to
one of the soldiers.  One poor fool handed his to @
peeler and we gathered round him and.made him gét it off

him, We found ont later that all the letiers were posted.

He were prepered for the worshk in Belfast Jailf. we
expected that all the warders were Orangemen,
Seén Murphy and I were next to egch other on the ground
floor. 4 man was appointed -in charge of each landing,
and a Commandant was: elected, Qur first Comngndant was
Seén Hayes. I think he was: frof some. part of County
gork. We found the warders very friendiy; There was one
0ld warder whose daughter was a member of Cumann na mBan.
For the {irst week the only way we had for saying our
Rogary was, each man shouted through the .spy hole in the

cell ddnr as the glass was proken in all of them,

When going out to exercise each Captain lined up his
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men and marched them out in military formation,

We smugeled in a handball and started to play at the
gable end of a building. There was a window in this
gable and we expected that we would be prevented from
playing, but instesd, when we came out next day a wire
netting was neatly fagtened over the window. e next
got in a football end had some very rough football

matches. Then we got a set of hoxing gloves, but

none of those things were objected 0,

Then we started Irish classes and signalling
classes. In comparison to Cork we found the grub
rather scarce. e were not getting anything from
outside, s0 we put in a demand for more and better
grub, and o0 our surprise we got it immediately. we
were (old that the Governor would do his best for us to

gvoid any trouble.

Wew batches were heing brought in every -other day.
One day a very tall and very straight good~looking
fellow came amongst us and for the first couple of
days he' found himself very much alone. The word was
sent round among the lads, "look out for ‘yoyr man',
he's not to be trusted". Then some fellow was told off
to take him round the ring and sound him. ﬁhen.he
came back he reported favourably but still we didn't
take him to our bosam, but some ong from Belfast whom
same Of the lads knew came along and we asked him about
this fellow. Wie were told that hig name was
Qeén 0'Neill, the mqéjxprominent 3inn Féiner in Belfast.
Mertin gorry (who is now a T.D.) came along and the first
thing Mariin wanted was a hunger strike. "Ye're only a
lot of sheep", Martin ﬁpuld say. There was a.wing of

the Jail that was broken up by JAustin Stack and his men
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some time previous. The slates were gone off half thé
roof’ and all the baleconies and partitions were broken
down. Martin would look at the wing and say there was
a man! he didn't lie down under it like this crowd.
Some of the lads were inclined to0 agree with Martin .
that sqmething should be done until one day one of the
boys gof hold of the story that Martin was preparing to
get married when he was arrested, and after ;nat wﬁen he
would mention the hunger strike the answer he ﬁculd get
was, "oh yes, Martin, we'll go on hunger sirike in
order that you will get out to get married and to hell
with us after". :

There was another fellow whose name I forget, who
was getting older and more wrinkled every day from
WOrTY,. He was the only man who would listen to
Martin., His iIdea was thaet all we had to do was declare a
hunger strike and we would agll be let out. He came to
me one day and began, "isn't mine a pitiable,éase?

I had a nice little shop and now 'tis closed. I had no

one to lock after it". "Go away", I sald, "you ould

woman complaining o me that left a wife almost dying

and three helpless childfen on the charity of the public,
and I'm not worrying. Thy don's you teke it like a man?".
Eventually when we did go on strike the doctor said that

if he were kept any longer he would kill himself

worrying - he wouldn't even come back to tell us.

. Cne day we were marching out and it seems that the
Captain of our landing didn't know mmuch about drilling.
He marched us out and was giviﬁg,al;-sorps,gf jumbled
up orders. = The fellows in front were making a joke of
it but he took no notice. _ The Tommies were lodking on.

I stood up and faced the Ceptain.  "Look here", I said,
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"if you were used to playing at aoi&iers,__l‘m not.

I was properly trained and I tock my training seriously".
"hat can I do?", he said, "when thé:.r wont éo right".
"If you can't puntrt?l them", I said, "hand them over to

someone who can'.

Shortly after he was shifted with a batch to _
England. I was appointed _lar;ﬂ.ing _Ggptain._ 1;11e_ firsi
thing I aid was to teach the words of command in Irish
to the men. Then there was an order from the |
Commandant that each landing Captaln give the words of
command in Irish. We were still trying to say our
Rosary through the spyholes. = One evening I tock a chance.
Wihen we came into the corridor I addressed the men and
said we would aﬂﬁ our Rosary before we went %o cells.

I thought the warders would object. _Ingtaa&_ they retired
to the ;_nﬁ_ of the corridor until we were finighed.
I was called the chaplain after that.

The hunger strike _ﬂt_q_i:ttgd in Mountjoy and Martin was
roused once more. _:“.al'{-'i_ we're great soldiers, fighting
for our country. OQur comrades: dying aﬁWE in Dublin and
we here living in the lap of luxury". _ However, he
prevailed this _E_img_.' a_]_.l the Captains agreed to the
hunger strike and we went to thd Commandant and
explained matters to him. He addressed us in the
exercise ground and said, "The Captains of each of the
landings have agreed to go on hunger strike. Now, do you
know what the men in Mountjoy are demanding;  they want a
trial or release. If we go on strike for these things we
will ,be_,gat,_ipg _:Ii,ncpr}.ai_aj:,gntly. You all know _thét,_every
Volunteer is_bound to refuse to recognise an English court.

If we go on strike for a trial and then refuse to
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recognise the cowrt, where will the matter end?. We
will be a lavghing stock; go back and aak your men
to'vote on a strike for unconditional releasel I might
mﬂntiﬁa.hGPE;jhaﬁ.our,ﬂﬂmmandént was rather easy going
and ﬂiiq‘tlyﬁnﬁ trouble, ﬁhen we put it before the
men they sald that a strike for release would lock like

as if we wanted to go home to our mothers.

ghortly .after that another batch was shifted and
our Commandant with them. = We elected a Kerryman.
I think°his name was Quinn. = We were getting disturbing
news every day about the strikeéin Mountjoy.  One day
I went up %o our new Commandant and said, "'Tis terrible
fo think that our comrades are dying and we here seem
so indifferent".  "Well", he said, "what can we do? .
We wanted to strike in sympathy and wouldn't be let'.
"well", I said, ﬁya can pnag_fqpﬂthem, and that's the
least we might do". , "You're the chaplain", he said,
"end the men are there'. I think there were about
sixty of us at t.h,i.ﬂ. time. = I called the men together
and told them that T wanted a Rosary said for the
release of the men in Mountjoy.  How, the Mater
Hospital is just outsgide the dail wall. It was in that
end the men knelt down in two rarks. I stood in front

of _them.  They were facing the hospital. Every man had

" his Rosary beads, and not one man lifted his head

during that Rosary. . #hen it was finished I furned
round and looked towards the hospital. There was a
nursge or twq,laah;ng out of every window and I don't
doubt that they were joining in the prayers. Joon we
were called into cells. We were only five mlnutes in

cells when one of the nurses flashed a morse message,

that the boys in Mountjoy were just after being



o57.

released. The news flew from cell to cell and did we
celebratel We kicked pots and everything in our cells
that would make noise, including the cell doors.
Pandemonium reigned for over an hour. Ve finished up.
with singing the Soldier's Song. During that time ﬁot a

warder came near the place.

& man nameﬁ.o‘connnr came to me one day and
suggested that we gﬁt up a concert for the following
Sundsay. I agreed and we went round and camvassed tha
boys - anyone who could sing promised to do 80, .

I commandeered a small wagon that was used for shifting
refuse. It was about four feet high; by letting down one
of the sides it made an Ideal stage. .. We had some fine

singers and some of the most seditious recitations you

‘@ould hear. It was a great success but when all was

over I was told that none of those who sang were half as
good as Connor - no one had asked him to sing,

We got word of a hunger strike in WGrmwonﬁ Serubbs.
lartin Qorry took the field once more. Ouwr new
Gummanﬂhnt‘was made of sterner atufﬂ than the last one.
We called a meeting and dﬂﬁidﬁﬂlalmmst unanimously to
strike in sympathy. We were formed up in a square.

e exempted a few who were in hospital and tﬁto old men

.who were over . gixty. One was Jim Leddy of Limerick. He

was a Cumann na nGaek T.D, afterwards., Jim stepped inﬁo
the square and appealed $0 us in a most pathetic manner.
"Ihis might be my last blow for Ireland and I ask ye for
God%s sake o0 let me take part in it",  ¥We cheered nhim
to the skies and then the iﬂthe::; man Jim Sullivan who was
exempt, stepped in and in!a most bellicose manner said,

"who said I couldn't go on hunger strike? Well, I'm



58..

going anyhum#. dim got anbthen*cheer. Just then a young
man, & solicitor, strong and healthy stepped into the
square and sald, "I object to go on hunger strike on
econscientious grounds“. He got no cheer. Then the
Commandant, in the naﬁe of God, declared the hunger strike
on and prayed for its success. All razors, éenknives,
ete. were teken from the prisqnera‘and at least all those

of my landing were put into my cell.

We had finlshed our second day when we were shipped
acrogs to wWormmrood Sqruhbﬁ. About 6 p.m. we were brought
dﬂwnﬂtq_ths_dgck.__ There were over a thousand Crangemen,
women and children, and bub for the soldiers they would
have made shori work of us.  They started throwing stones
at_us but luckily for usfbnﬁ stone hit the officer in
qhargq and he turned back and th:eatsned to turn the
soldiers on them if they didn't stop, but they hissed and
booed and threw every insulting remark they could think

&

at us.

We were handcuffed in pairs, and gecording to law ﬁhe
handcuffs shou}@ have been taken off on board ship, but
our gentle gallant officer was above the law, he wanted to
leave us handcuffed all the time. We had to climb down the
narrow hatchway in pairs, one fellow lying on ﬁhﬂ deck
while the other one got down and then ascramble down after
him as best he could. One pair,ahjeatad that they
couldn't do it. "Get down or I'll throw you down", this

Lovely officer said.

. When we were all dowm below a peeler came down and was
called up again, "ighat are you doing?", the officer asked
him. "Teking the handcuffs off the prisoners", "fihen

I want the handeuffs off I'll come to you for the key'.
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The peeler reminded him that it was illegal to handcuff
prisoners on board ship. They argued for a time and
then the peeler t0ld him he would take no é:'z-ﬂsrs from
him, . The Commandant and I were handcuffed together,
and when the peeler came t0 open owr handeuffs, we
.asked him what the officer was shouting about. "“#h, thatl
fellow 's mad", the peeler said. '"He wanted to have ye
hendcuffed all the time", I will never forget that
Jjourney.

a:teglsomg time the sailors threw some blankets

~down to us, and thls officer did his Dest t0 stop him.

The Ballor told him he had his ordersd Hustl of the

lads lay huddled on the floor. I sat on a fi'o:fm and
watched those poor fellows huddled together on the floor,.
Most of tham got aeamsick, and it was pitiable to see them
trying to vomit. We arrived in England at 8 a.Il. next
day. We were then huddled into a train, two prisoners
in each compartment, and three soldiers and one peeler
with each pair of prisoners. We ,tr_gve,llgﬂ, on that trein
without a stop untll 6 o'clock that evening when we
errived in Paddington Station. We were then put into
lorries. There were seats in them end good enough of the
_peelers who were with us, they let us sit doym, and our
gentle officer came to one of the lorrles, a_.d::l_i*ess;s;i

the peelers "You fellows sit down and let those swine
stand up".

We arrived at Wormwood Scrubbs Frison, We now
had owr third day's hunger strike completed. It is bad
enough 0 be on hunger strike in your cell but 0 be
hauled sbout like so many cattle and treated worse is

another matter. Tp our great surprise when we got inside



60,

in the prison, we found the corridor lined with soldiex-sl
with fixsda bayonets and trench helmets, and everyone o
scowled at us. We were left standing in '['.hﬂ eorxfid.ér.
Each man ma.hrnught into a room and all his belongings
Bﬂ-a_.l‘_ﬂhEﬂ. and his person examined for #ﬁ- and
birthmarks (we didn't have to undress) but I suppose. it
took ten minutes to exemine each man. The result was
that it was 10 o'eclock when we got the very uncivil but
welcome order "get to your celis".

. Next day we were let out on exercise, and the yard
where we were wasgs surrounded by dbax_'he,ﬂ... wire entanglements.
We didn't worry trying to get through. That night
before we went to cells I took another chance, not
knowing what thé result would be. _T went round to
collect the men for prayers. Ope of the warders saw
me and came up ko me and said, "are you collecting the
b oys: for prﬁmna?f"ﬂ_- 1 said, "yes". He said, "I have
a little bell here, and anytime you wani them I'll ring
it for you's I thanked him and told him that the

boys needed only a nod from me.

. I forgot to mention an item in the firét night's
proceedings. . When we all were ae@al;ed the Governor
got up on the stairs and said, "Now, you fellows,

I want to give you to undergtand that we will take no
monkey tricks from anyone, and if you stari them we
know how to deal with you". . We were ,énnlplﬂt.el;'
puzzled; . here, we .W!érﬁ in the heart .Df.. England, three
\days without £ood and surrounded by armed soldiers, and
yet this fool is afraid of us.  that do es it mean?

We found out afterwards that the batch who weré on
hunger strike before us had pulled down all their cell

doors and were now in underground cells.
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At the first opporitunity I wrole to.any wife as
I knew she would be g,_nxicu_a about me, I will now tell
her part of the story. She was within a week of her
confinement when a tel_egx_*am._cama from g Beliagt hogpital
to one of the neighbmours, from her nephew - 'released
yvesterdsy, rlow in hogpitalv, She came with all haste
to tell the good news to my wife, but my wife was not
satisfied. She said, "if Frank were released he would
w.-:i.r? ,mé“. 80 to please her thgy _weﬁt back and zot a
r_3p13; - "Frenk left here three days ago, don't know where
he is gone to".  This nearly drove her mad, and %o make
it worse. the child was born before she got any word
about me. A friend wired several jails in England -
ifhere is Frank Hynea?. Wife in critical cnnditicﬁ".

Cne day as I was lying in bed, a warder.came in
with the wire and read it to me. He had some papers in
his hand. When he read the wire he_ said, ":,roufbetter_
sign this paper asking for parole and get home to see your
wife before she dies". I said, "I must see my |
Gommandant first, but I will sign the petition
conditionally". I got up and went ﬁut t0 state ny case
t0 the Commandant. = He told me that I would have t0 be
at leaat- a week taking food before I would be allowed out,
and by that time your wife will be either dead end buried
or better. I went back to bed and when the warder came
I told him to cancel my petition for parcle. ' In about
three hours after another telegram was thrown on ny bed -
"baby girl, both well". I went through hell from the
time I got the first telegram and I will leave the
reader ito imagine the joy I experienced when I got the

good news.
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. When we came to Wormwood Serubbs we had the uauai
ﬁrisun bed to sleep on. Shortly after we came there,
the Commandant.ordered us to stay in bed as much as we
could as he said we would give it to be understood that
we we were t0oo Weak to get up and be released all the
sqﬂﬁﬁtm I think I was about thﬁdonlylgne who.carzied
out the arder as I did a lot_of reading, . One day I vas
lying in bed when two warders. came in with a new spring
bed.  They got me into this and I found it very
comfortable and they brought a lovely white enamelled wash
basin and stand, a big water jug;-a plate glass mirror
about 24" x 18" hung on the wall; then a larger mat for
the floor.  When they ﬂgqeule&ving after putting down
the mat one of the warders said "we weel 'ave the
'armonion in a meeneet". I =aid, "you better get some
one to play it".

Our chaplain Was a real angel of mercy. He was
in complete sympathy with us. When he would come in he
would sit by the bed and put his arms round me and kekl
me about the other prisoners, and with words of
encouragement try to make me feel happy. I found him
s0 nice I asked him one day was he Irish. fﬂn", he
sald, in a thorough saxon tone. ."The only connection
I have w;ﬁh,x:qlqnd is that it was on St. Patrick's Day
I was converted to the Faith, I had a lot to do with the
Irish in Liverpool"., - )

. We were avbout ten days on strike,wimOpe day I heard
the boys walking up and down the corridor, I said |
I would scrabble out to them as I hadn't seen them fop E

quite a while. I got up and when the boys saw me they

had great welcome. . We said our Rosary, and I was sitting

on a chalr. One of the boys: was standing at = desk,
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I think he was writing, but suddenly he fell back on the
floor in a dead faint. It caused great excitement,
He was bhrought in to his cell and the doctor was brought. -
The excitement was too much for me and I felt myself
getiing rather weak. _ One of the boys saw me and asked
me was I alright. I said I felt a bit week, = They all
gathered round me and made a great fuss. They put me
into bed and brought the doctor. He ordered the cell
door to be left open all night. -

. We were released at sbout 2 o'clock on Friday. _
I had completed 11 days; we were taken to a hospital in
Highgate, St. Mary's, Delington. _We were not treated
as uwalids. .. Our first feed was a very bad quality of

 bread, margarine and bovril, There were many

intéresting_incidents which heppened during our three
weeks in hogpital, but hy time _.fQ:I’.‘_' writing i_s l:'fl’rawing to
8 close and I must finigh my story in the time left to me
or 1% will never be flnished.
There was a huge crowd at Euston Station when we

were leaving., There were several Irigh piiests.
When we arrived in Dublin the boys were msking a show,
getting photographed, interviewing reporters, etc., but
a few of us who didn't want that kind of thing, got a
Jarvey o drive us to the station,

. I was very weak Tfor some time after I came home,
after gbout a week I went back i;u_ work, but when
I arrived at the workshop the foreman asked me where _
I was going. I said, ";I: am coming to work".  He said,
"You _arja_;nrot going to do any such thing, you're gi:riné on
a holiday".
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. I want %0 _state here that in addition to whatever
help my wife got from the Pridoners' Dependents' Fund,
the men I worked with made a contribution each week that _
- brought her money up to my usual week's wages. Xnowing
thi__s',_ I asked the foreman how I could expect to go on a
holiday.  He said, “there is: plenty of money".

They commandeered a house for me in Crosshaven and gave
me a month's holiday.

- - - s w e -

liy_Lieutenants, Danny Murphy and Tom Leshy, worked
hard with the Company while I was away. When I came
back I took over and organised until I had the
membership well over the hundred.

~ Qur am@an;r area was on the outskirts of the city
and the members were mostly aé::ieulturgal labourers.

About Tifty of them were engaged in driving milk vans to
the dairies in the city. They went on strike for higher
?f_a}ges.r . _'The fa_;:p:rgle_x-_s themgelves then brought the milk %o
';:he__c_:i._t:;{._ This didn't suit the strikers, so i:he:,r tried
to preveni them by intimidation.

.. .tne Saturday evening I was lying on the bed after
finishing work, vhen one of my men ceme up to0 the bed to
me, He had a belt on with a holster and revolver hitched
on.. This was in the height of the Tan trouble. I asked
him what the idea was. He said, "I am guarding the
farmers".  "gho orderedd you?", I asked. "The 1st
I wanted to see him. _The Lijeutenant was very zealous
Volunteer and had great respect and admiration for his
Captain. I asked him what he meant by issuing those
orders. He was very spologetic but said that just

before curfew he got an 8.0.8, from the farmers who
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wanted protection, and I didn't have time to contact you.
I sent word to some of the lads who were cutside the
curfew area to be at the different cross rosds this
morning and it was a good job. They had a mob on each
end of the roads, armed with sticks, and swore that they
would stop the farmers at any cost - gu?,lads had to draw
their revolvers'. I said, "do you realise the  ,
responsibility you have teken on yourself?". Half our
Company merbers were in that strike. Do you think
they are pgoing to take our interference lying down?
Eﬁu“haﬁ no right to issue aﬁy orders without consulting
mels  _'Well", he said, "I did what I thought was best
under the circumstances and I'm prepared to stand
courtmartial and take the conseguences", |

... I went into the cify to see the Brigade
Commandant, Seén Hegaerty. I stated the case to him and
told him that it was like strike bresking, "but you-are
nqépomaible_fun the peace of your area. Keep on asryou
are, and I will see the heads of the Labour Union".
That night I got word that the sirikers were going %o
hold g big meeting at Pouladuff tphis was the roed that
mog% of the milk vans travelled) and that they were
de termined to stop the milk cars. going to the city. -
I issued an order t0 all my men who were nét in the
strike t0 be on parade at 2 p.m. on Sunday with side arms. -
The 1st Liedenant lived not far from where the meeting
wes t0 be held. The 2nd Lieutenant and I were going
out when we met the 1st Lieutenant., He asked me if-I could
get on without him, "My mother.is in a state. of
collgpse on account of this and if I go out she might die",
"Now", I said, "you didn't think of this when you
brought this on us, and besides if we were going out %o

fight for the country, and ydur mother got into a staﬁe-
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of collapse, would you be Jjustified in s taying at home?
Get ready and come with us".

fihen we arrived at the place there was a mob of about
gixty men. I lined up my men and although the mob had
the road blocked I marched the men right up to them;. they
stood in a threatening attitude with their sticks. I kept
one stone in my pocket and kept walking rigl;t up to them,
They eventually withdrew to one side end let ;us pass.
I merched the men gbout 100 yards aﬁwe__mem_and. waited for
the vang.  When we had about nine :af:them I'put a line of
men each side of them and we marched towards the crowd
again. 4 scout came up and told me they had formed a
golid block on the read end were determined not to let us
pass. . I kept marching on right up to the -:sr_mvﬂ. with my
hand in my pocket. They stood there until we came rigﬁ.’t
up 40 them, _ I toock no notice of them but kept walking.

~ They gave way once more, When we had the .vans brought

safely through the crowd I put two men on each van and let
them off. . I kept the men togesher, and the orowd was
ghouting and calling us strike beeakers . We marched on
towards the cily. We were ahqut_wg_ miles out. We
marched to the outgkirts of the city. Some of the cars
be_glad to get to their dinners sO I dismissed them.

Just then a scout came up and said that the strikers were
marching in. I held all the men who were not gone.
I.stood by the first car myself and the first crowd passeci
on. . The second crowd stopped opposite to I‘i’lE‘ and

I noticed that their leader was not one of the strikers,
and was a member of the Company. He addressed the men and
said, "Now, lads, there will be no intimidation or

rowdyism". I walked over to them and said I was very
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sorry for this state of affairs. Two men stepped out of
the ranks and saluted and sald, "we're sorry, §ir, too, but
we're fighting for our rights". I said, "as far as that
ié concerned, I, as a Trade Uni_oniét', am in sympathy with
you, but I am respensible for the peace of the district,
and besides I have more experience of strikes than any of
you, and I never knew of a strike that was settled by .
intimidation, If you carry out your strike in-the proper
manner, you can depend on all the help we can give you,
and now if you promise that you won't interfere with

the delivery of the milk, I will withdraw my men'., They
assured me that they would not interfere, so I withdrew

my men.

. I was_worrying about the Company, I was afraid thaj
those on strike would forsake us and leave our nunbers
very much reduced,

After a- few days the sirike was settled. We had a
little hall for drilling outside the city, and one night
I was in the field adjacent to the heall, drilling a very
much depleted Company, when we heard the meaaure:d tread
coming down the road. Our strﬂ:ars; were coming towards us.
They marched into the field. T hed my men in two ranks,

and not knowing what was going 10 happen, westood to

- attention. = The sfrlkers marched behind the Company,

fell into line;  their. leader walked up, saluted and
retired into the ranks., I felt very proud of them.

about two months after I had come home. a, 1ot Of
Volunteers were arrested and kept in Gork Jail. amongst
them was one of my Company.  His name was Joe kiurphy.
The charge they had against him was most ridiculous.

#e had a dud bomb with which we were practising bomb
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throwing. They found this in Joe's house. They went on
hunger sirike. It was the most 'remarka'qle,hm;g@r strike
in history. Some of the men did 90, days without food

and except poor Joe, they all survived it - Joe 1aéte=i.

79 days. . I was spegking o him some days before he died.
His voice was gone, he_could only spesk in whispers, but .
for that he locked guite normal.  “Captain", he said,
"we'll win ng matter how it goes.. If we outlive this

and they have. to release us we have them beaten, and if we
die we will go %o Heaven because we gave our lives in a
good cause! | When the vigiti came t0 an end he took my hand
and said, "don"t fret, Capiain, I'll keep the flag flying
for “C" Gompany". He did, the poor fellow - he carried

it to his grave.,

. then he died we set a._baut mgking arrangements for the
funeral. We went up to the Jail (which is about two miles
from the city) with the coffin; six of us got under the ery:
empty ‘cgffinpgq:i,ng: in and when we got _ina;‘t-de: we had to
submit %o a search, while we stood with t-he coffin on our
shoulders. = We brought him to the church and arvenged for
Mass mext morning. At this time only a limited number

were allowed to walk in the funeral. Six of us stood guard

-over the coffin during Masg; we Kept a bodyguard on until

the funeral.  The soldiers came tq”rt_anlin*;i_ﬁs_ of the limit.
e put six palls on the hearse so as to have a .gué.r'rl of
six men by the hearse.

. There was an armoured car gnd some lorries with
soldiers at the funeral. We had secret arrangements made

for a firing party. _The officer in the armoured car

'stood at the cemetery gate to see that no shots were fired,

but give him his due, he had his cap in his hand during

the burial service. We said the Rosery and other prayers,
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:iala;},re& as :I.Emg as we could until the armoured car vas
gone,  Some Of the huge crowd departed thinking all was
over, but a great meny waited to see if we would have the
courage to fire the volley. _ Tpe Commandant came to me
and said he thought I should put it off for another time.
I said, "we'll wait another bit*.  Then the officer got
into the car and af a signal our firing party appeared
from nowhere.  The car had only started from the gate
when the crowd were aroused by hearing the word of
command MFiring Party - attention".  Everybody locked up.
I marched the men round the grave and fired the three
volleys and_everyone in that crowd clapped, I had a wueer
feeling listening to the people clapping in a graveyard.
Aafter, this incident every.young man in the area joinet
our Company. . When Terence MeSwiney, Lord Mayor, died in
Brixton, and was brought home to be Ihp::-_.ied in Cork, I had
169 men on parade at the funeral. = _There was no limit
to the number at the funeral.  They lifted the ban for
that occasion. _ The Volunteers were used to line the
route on each side ef‘mﬁhe_ two miles to the cemetery,
My Company was the last on the route wit'hith sbout 500
yar_ﬂg_af the vemetery. When the funeral was p'assing the
Commandant came over 0 me and said, "If we allow the huge
crowd into the cemeiery there won't be standing room!.
"When the cars are all passed make a double cordoil across
the road and don't let anyone pass". Sorme ordey but it
had to be attempted, and then we didn't know when a lorry
load of Tans would come. Some of the crowd were ;.rer':,r
indignant but others took it in good paris. We had our
hands full for g couple of hours,

With the excitement of locking after the orowd in
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the cemetery the Commandant forgot to relieve us from our

duty. The result was that we waited there lt:_!n,g after the

crowd had gone hame, It was dark nfi.ght when _I took it on
myself "r.o-q_uit the post.

Apout the middle of Decenber, 1920, we Ihad a very
important job to do, We had no proper dump for our
tstuff" and we had it hidden in small loiz, some of it
wp to three miles fram the rest, 80 we sald we would
have to collect it and put it all t,qéether in one
particular plage. Curfew waz on and the job was to
avold the Tans. when we started on the job the night
came very bad and it rained all night through, with the
rasﬁlt that when we got finished about 2.30 a..m.. we were
drenched into the skin, Some of the boys got into a
farm house, but there were two for vhom there was no .room,

The alternative was a hayshed.: .I insisted on going

'in the hayshed as being the oldest veteran whh lad most

experience of that kind of life. Then each of them
wanted 0 remain with me, but one ﬁarticular fra_l of mine
insisted that he would stay. We had to sleep in our wet
clothes. At the time I was "on the run'. I.cculﬂn't go
near ny own house on account of an incident that happened a
ghort time before. Since the time I came home from
England my health wasn't very strong, and I had a mile to
walk t0 work every day. :4.. girl menber of Cumann na mBan
brqu_g;ht_ my dinner every day e.x-::egt, on Friday. I went
home every Friday. . This went on for about four months,
but as luck would have it, I was told that I would have %o
come home t0 my dinner on Wednesday instead of Friday.

On the following Friday just at 1.15 as I would be sitting
at my dinner, three Tang came in, closed the hall door and

rushed from the hall into the kitchen, covered the table
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with their revolvers and were very much disappointed
when I was not there, Ly movements had been waiched and
reported so accurately that the only snag in the whole
arrangement -was the accident that kept me away on that

particular ‘Frirlasr.

_They asked ny wife where I was and she refused o

te},l them and they beat her and put her facing the wall
while they pulled down all.the pictures on the wall and
ki:ﬁce,d_them round the house. They went upstalrs and
¢ollected all the papersg they could get and pﬁ't: them
under the bed wisk and sét fire to them. = The only
thing left uniouched in the kitchen was a picture of
the Sacred Heari. One of them went over fo pull it down
when my wife, who was facing the wall up to this, turned
round_and said, "don't you dere touch that, you're not
worthy". = The soldier turned away without a word.
When they were going they told her,'we were se'_nt up to do
in your husband; we were disappointedthis time, but we'll
get him and you won't see him any more". She just had
time to put out the fire under the bed when she fainted
after they had gone. :

I couldn't go near my home after that. I found it
hard to try and carry out: m;r:r work and then maekKe my way
by lanes and backways to some friend's house for tea, and
when it got dark steal out t0 somewhere in the country
to a friend's house or a hayshed. I couldn't take the
same route twice. I was being spied on and the boys
were spying on the spilers..

The night Cork was burned I was in a house about

two miles out the, country and didn't know about it until

next day. It was a terrible secene, more than half .of the
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shops on one side of Patrick Street were burned %o the

ground.

K

I had been about itwo months'on the run* ﬁhen the
incident which I relgted above occurred-about sleeping
in my wet clothes. A_couplgtnf“nightg;affa: this
I slept in a friend's house in the city. I tried to get
out of bed on Sunday morning when I found I couldn't stir,
I was & very sick man. = jjord was sent to my wife. §he
was afraid to come to the house in case she ﬁuuld lead

the spies to me.  3he went to a prilest, a great frieng

_of ours, Fr. Duggen. He went immediately to the hospital

and engaged a bed for me, I was brought to hogpital.

My name was supposed to be Ward. Nearly all the
patients were ex soldiers so I had to be very careful.

The sister in charge of the ward was indisposed (the
hospital was run by the Sisters of Mercy). Manother sister
was acting in her stead. I"m sure it was the fervent
wish of each of those soldier patients that the head
sister would never be able to fake charge of the ward.

" 8he eventually came along, spoke very gruffly to a
few patients who were in bed - 'What's wrong with you? -
bronchits?!t. "Yes", “Hmp", she came %o me, and
listening to the uncomplimentary remarks of the pafients
about her, I didn't feel very friendly towards her,

I thought ghe was just a bully. "#hat's wrong with youg.
“Bronchitis, soldier?".  “Yes" (and after a pause),
"goldier of the Irish Republic". — She turned with e kind
of a start, and I thought she was going to order me to

he put out. ¥Ch!", she said, "I know what happened you,
out at night getting wet, sleeping in wet clothes.

Isn't it diabolical", she said, "all this shooting end
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killing". I _sa_id.,l "yrhs.t can you expect from cowards?'.
"Cowards", she sald, "you don't know as much about them as
I do. They are the very scum of the earth, shooting
unarmed p&nplek is all they are fit for; they ran
whenever they met men who could fight. I spent ten years
amongst them'.

I will have t0 pass over a lot of interesting
incidents dwring my stay in hogpital, but it was coming
neer Christmas and I thought I would like to spend
c_hris,_t,maa_ night at home. I asked my friend, Fr. Duggan,
and he said he would ask the boys. They sald it
wouldn't be safe,I had so many éscapaﬂ_ that it would be
tempting Ei!?!?w‘idﬁme; t0 risk going home., I couldn't agree,
that 'bad. .and all as they were they would go raiding on
Christmas night - however, I would not go aga:inst orders.

A couple of days sfter Christmas my wife came and
told me that the Isoldiers. came led by the detective
K¥alliff, and gave her a bad time, wanting to know where
I was - ghe would not tell them of course.

This raid was brought about by a very peculiar
circumstance. A& friend of mine, Zhomas Malone, who used
visit us often had come into the city. He was captured
by the Tans and I believe some ammunition was dound on
him. He was asked where he came from. He said he slept
in the city last night. He was asked what house and
mine was the only name he cnuld- think of, and thinking
to kill two birds with the one stone, they brought him
to my house hoping that. I would be home for Christmas,

They didn't bring him up to the house but agked my

wife, "did any man sleep in the house last night?". She
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‘sald, no. After some more questioning one of them sald,

"bring him up". Eﬂﬁmking it was I whom they had she was
very troubled. Thomas was brought up and she was asked,
"do you know this man?', She said, “yes'. "What's his
nameg". Now Thomas sometimes used an alias and she

didn't know whether to give his owm name or not. Then in

-order to save him from getting into trouble she f{old them

that he slept in the house, which was not true.

. When the boys found out that Mailiff was in a raid
on my house one Christmas night, they said,_"phi me,aah't
allow that kind of thing. If that fellow is én to him
again we'll have to do something!., mhuﬁt_a week after
there was great exclitement and shooting outside the
hospital. I was walking up and down the corridor when
I saw a wheeled stretcher, and lying on it wag my friend
kailiff.  His pal, Ryan, was on another, He was brought
in end propped up on a_bed. I tried to keep aa_cnql as
I could. I helped togivé round the tea to the patients,
and had my own tea just opposite to where Mailiff was,
two or three Tans came in with their rifles and I didn't
know when Mailiff would point his finger at me, that would

mean sudden death.

I told the sister gbout the detective and she put a
screen round his bed, but she said it would be risky to
stay in the ward. 8he changed me to another ward - I had
to leave next day. I think the boys had other charges
against the detective besides his attention to me,

shortly after this my boss s:¢ nik me to a Job in

Crosshaven and before I was finished there the Truce was on.

I got into bad health and after coming back from



[ B

l.'lﬂ

1

7D,

Grosshaven I had to get- my knee opened a few times for
blood poison. One day I had been to the hospital and
was walking home when I met our Srigada doctor.

He stood out from me with fright in his eyes (our
Brigade doctor was Tim Donovan). "Is it you Or your
ghost, I see?. . Uhy, men, you're dead bui to close
your eyes. I1I'm in charpe of a ﬁard in Shanskeela
Hospital in Sunday's Well, and I want you to call up
until I examine you and don't do too much walking
round, you might drop dead".

I spent three months in hospital under our
doctor, and when the Staters came to Cork the
Republicang retired after burning the barracks, and
the doctor had to go with them, with thé result that
I had to leave hosgpital to find when I went home that
my wife and one of the children were just recovering
from a bad f£it of sickness. The doctor was attending
them and wouldn't tell me, Someone advised me that
I would never gét back to normal health unﬁil I went
home to my native air.

I decided to sell my furniture and go home,
There were no trains at the time., I had to come by
boat. We got on board on Thursday night and arrived
in Limerick at 7 o'clock Sunday morning. First, we
were held up by a fog, and next we were held up by

the Staters who searched everyone on board.

4 train was leaving for Galway in half an hour
on Monday morning from the time I went to enguire and

there was no other train for a week. I got my stuff
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off the boat and by delaying the train for a few
minutes managed to geramble on board. I took no
part on either sides in thé Civil War.

- - -

....I hope that some future historian will find

st | something in this statement that will he of

asgistance to him,
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